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Tuesday, October 2, 2018
--- On commencing at 10:13 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today on the matter of a combined oral hearing for three leave-to-construct applications that have been filed with the Ontario Energy Board under section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

The first application was filed by Upper Canada Transmission Inc., operating as NextBridge Infrastructure, and seeks an order granting leave to construct a new 230 kV electricity transmission line between Wawa and Thunder Bay.  This application is referred to as the NextBridge East-West Tie application.

This application was filed on July 31st, 2017, subsequent to NextBridge being designated by the OEB in August 2013 to complete the development work for the new transmission line between Wawa and Thunder Bay.  The NextBridge East-West Tie application has been assigned OEB file 2017-0182.

The second application was filed by Hydro One Networks Inc., Hydro One, on July 31st, 2017, and seeks an order granting leave to construct the facilities necessary to upgrade existing transmission stations associated with the new transmission line.  This application is referred to as the Hydro One station upgrades application, and has been assigned OEB file EB-2017-0194.

The third application was filed by Hydro One on February 15th, 2018, seeks an order granting leave to construct a 230 kV transmission line between the same two points as the NextBridge East-West Tie application.  This application is referred to as the Hydro One Lake Superior Link application and has been assigned OEB file EB-2017-0364.

The expansion or reinforcement of the electricity transmission network in the area between Wawa and Thunder Bay was declared by Order-in-Council as a priority project under section 96.1 of the OEB Act.

On July 5th, 2018, the OEB held an oral hearing to review NextBridge development costs incurred by NextBridge during the development phase of the NextBridge East-West Tie application.  The OEB will issue its decision on development costs shortly.

On August 13th, 2018, the OEB combined the NextBridge East-West Tie, the Hydro One station upgrades, and the Hydro One LSL applications, setting out procedural steps for hearing the three applications as a combined hearing, which is starting today.

It is important to remember the scope of the OEB's review with respect to leave-to-construct applications.  As stated in the OEB Act, the OEB shall only consider the following when it considers whether the construction, expansion, or reinforcement of the electricity line or electricity distribution line or the making of the interconnection is in the public interest.  The interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of electricity service and, where applicable and in a manner consistent with the policies of the government of Ontario, the promotion of the use of renewable energy sources.

My name is Christine Long, I am presiding today, and with me are my fellow Board members, Allison Duff and Michael Janigan.

May I have appearances, please, beginning with you, Mr. Cass.


Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Fred Cass and Brian Murphy for NextBridge.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren and Rosalind Cooper for Hydro One Networks Inc.  Joining us at the counsel table is Janet Oh, who is counsel for SNC-Lavalin and is here for purposes related to any issue of the confidentiality of materials.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Esquega, can we start with you and work this way.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Good morning.  Etienne Esquega, counsel to Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Jonathan McGillivray.  My co-counsel in this proceeding is Elizabeth DeMarco.  We appear on behalf of Anwaatin Inc. and its member First Nations.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. STRACHAN:  Good morning, Megan Strachan, counsel for the Métis nation of Ontario.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Strachan.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning.  Mark Garner, consultant for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Garner, Mr. Rubenstein, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, counsel to Board Staff, and with me from Board Staff I have Nancy Marconi, Saleh Lavaee, Zora Crnojacki, and David Martinello.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.

Before we begin this morning are there any preliminary issues that we need to deal with?  Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I am not sure what you mean by "preliminary issues", whether the confidentiality matter is a preliminary matter.  If not, then we can deal with it in the ordinary course.

MS. LONG:  Let's start with other issues and then we will get to confidentiality.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. WARREN:  We have no other issues other than the scheduling issue that we alerted the Board Staff to some time ago; that is, that one of our witnesses, Elise Croll, who deals with environmental assessment issues, cannot be here on the 4th, so -- and I think all parties are aware of that, so that's the only scheduling issue that we have.

MS. LONG:  And I understand that she's been scheduled for today?

MR. WARREN:  She is available for today and tomorrow afternoon if the Board wishes.

MS. LONG:  All right.  So the parties should be aware of that, that we do have a constraint with respect to that.  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, other than confidentiality, anything else we need to discuss?

MR. CASS:  No, Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then with respect to confidentiality, I understand that documents were made available this morning for parties to review and consider whether or not they wished to make submissions on confidentiality.  So I would like to hear from people who feel that they need to make submissions on confidentiality.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't have any submissions on should the documents be confidential or not, it's just with respect to how they should be treated.  Currently they are before the Board in this room and they were in the west hearing room earlier on, and the Board's procedural order encourages parties to provide electronic copies.  I would ask that the Board require parties to provide those, either electronic or hard copy, that they can be -- that parties who have signed the declaration undertaking can take back to their offices.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, NextBridge agrees to provide the copies in confidence to the parties who have signed the declaration and undertaking.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  With the Board's permission I will ask Ms. Oh to address the question of providing electronic copies.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, can I just clarify here?  So is the only issue with respect to the contract?

MR. WARREN:  There are three issues that were the subject of a confidentiality.  They have all been made available, although the unredacted version of the EPC contract has not been filed as an exhibit and we can do that.  So the only issue as far as I know is whether -- is the method of dissemination of these documents, whether they are to be sent electronically or otherwise.  As far as I know, that's the only issue, and I would like Ms. Oh to address that, if I could, please.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.

MS. OH:  Good morning.  There are different types of documents that are at issue here.  There are documents that relate to engineering drawings, calculations, load calculations, design criteria that have been developed by SNC-Lavalin as a contractor to Hydro One.  The information that's contained, we consider that to be highly confidential in terms of commercial sensitivity.  This is the know-how, work product of over 100 years of existence of the company.  This is what the company bases itself on.

We understand that there has been an undertaking and a declaration has been signed by various members, but what we fail to understand is what the necessity of transmitting these documents electronically would be.  If the purpose of viewing this information is for the purpose of cross-examining witnesses, which I understand to be what the stated purpose of having access to the documents are, we consider that it would be sufficient to have access by viewing the physical copies.

The concern from SNC-Lavalin's point of view as an engineering design company is this is what we make our living on, this is what we use for competitiveness, this shows the kind of work product that we go into, this is what we have confidential agreements with each of our clients to make sure that that work product is secured.

We do not want to have any risk of inadvertent transmission of these -- of that information.  These are design criteria, engineering information, work product, know-how, our intellectual property and that's what we are trying to protect.

We understand the importance of being transparent to the Board, and we are doing that by providing copies of that information.

That's the first category of documents which I understand to be technical in nature, design engineering.

The second category of documents, which I understand  has been released but not electronically, has to do with pricing information, costs, detailed breakdowns of the pricing that we are engaged in.  We are not prepared to release that information either, in terms of -- given the fact that there is currently a public or procurement process that is underway.

We don't understand what the valid reason would be for transmitting that kind of documentation, sensitive pricing information, which, if put out into the market, could actually affect the competitive nature of this process, could in fact effect the integrity of the procurement process.

Again, not because it would be a willing disclosure by anyone who gets possession of the information, but any kind of inadvertent transmission of the information which should not be in the hands of the public.

We have strict confidentiality provisions also with respect to our own suppliers and the potential bidders that we have been asking for this information; we need to respect that process as well.  We understand that if there is an order, we would have to then -- we would have to provide that information to each of our bidders.  But our objective is to protect the integrity of the project, and to protect the integrity of the information.

And again, if the purpose of releasing the information or having access to the information is to allow each of the parties to cross-examine on that information, then sufficient viewing by counsel and consultants, in our view, should in fact meet that objective.

We simply cannot risk the potential of having that information put out to the public.

And then I think the last category of the document was with respect to the redacted information on the EPC contract between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin.  Again, there's information in the EPC contract which contains sensitive commercial information, and which would show the negotiating strategies behind the commercial issues of that contract.  Those issues SNC-Lavalin as a contractor would go to great lengths to protect.  This is an obligation that we have also with each of our clients and each of our contracting strategies.  We do not believe that there is any need for that information to be released electronically either.

Again, for the purposes of cross-examination, for counsel and consultants to have access to it, we have no problem because we understand that it's for the purpose of allowing the Board to make a proper decision.  But we don't understand why that needs to be disseminated electronically where, again, it could be released inadvertently.


And we are trying to protect the commercial -- the sensitive commercial information in these contractual documents, and that's the basis for which we are trying to seek the process by which the confidentiality is protected.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Oh, when you talk about redacted sensitive commercial information, you're talking about commercial terms in contracts?  So liquidated damages clauses, et cetera, that's what you are speaking to, that type of information that you are concerned about?

MS. OH:  Correct.  It all has all the liquidated damages clauses.  Also in the different annexes, it has certain information which we would consider to be commercially sensitive.  Scheduling information is also very sensitive to us, the way we schedule our projects and whatever information we may have in terms of how we put our project schedules together, how we deal with delays, how we negotiate with each of our clients with respect to the leverage that each party may have.  Those are all very commercially sensitive information.

Again, because this is not just representative of one contract between SNC-Lavalin and Hydro One as the owner, but we, SNC-Lavalin as a contractor, would be going out and are going out currently to the market to have various suppliers and subcontractors provide their submissions to us for their -- for different portions of the package.

We don't, as a practice, give all the information, all the commercial information that we may have negotiated very difficultly in some cases, that we have negotiated very stringently with our own client, Hydro One in this case.  We don't give all that information to the downstream subcontractors and suppliers for the purpose of protecting the integrity of the whole RFP process and protecting the information with respect to our own client.

This is -- you know, the information, the commercial negotiating strategies that we have concluded in the EPC contract should not be divulged to anyone and everyone, particularly not to our competitors, but also not to our suppliers and subcontractors.

This is a specific EPC contract that was negotiated for the specific terms of this project, with the specific parameters that are required for this project.  Every project is different, but the last thing we want is to have a reputation in the market that would necessarily affect our competitive ability to negotiate subsequent contracts with other potential owners, or with other partners, or other suppliers, and we are vigorously trying to protect that potential loss.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair; I apologize for interrupting.  Having heard these submissions, I just thought it important that I clarify what I said on behalf of NextBridge before these submissions are finished, just so that there's an understanding.

I said unequivocally that NextBridge will provide the confidential information to parties who have signed the declaration and undertaking.  I was not envisaging, on behalf of NextBridge, that this would be an e-mail transmission, if that's what people are thinking.  In my expectation, it would be information put on a thumb drive or a CD, something of that nature, and given to the people who have signed the undertaking in a very controlled fashion.

So I don't know if that affects these submissions or others that would follow, but I should have clarified that.  We are not thinking of sending out this information by e-mail.  It would be done in a much more controlled fashion.

MS. LONG:  That's in respect of your documents, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Correct, yes.

MS. LONG:  Are you taking a position with respect to that you want electronic copies?

MR. CASS:  No.  I was just concerned that what I said may have created the impression that we are going to send things out by e-mail, and I just wanted to be sure that impression was not out there.

MS. LONG:  I guess that begs the question for you, Ms. Oh, why is that not sufficient, that if information is not transferred via e-mail but through CDs or some --


MR. WARREN:  I apologize for interrupting.  It's Mr. Rubenstein that wanted the electronic transmissions, not Mr. Cass.  So we were responding to what Mr. Rubenstein wanted.  If Mr. Rubenstein doesn't want electronic transmission, then we can discuss what form is the most secure to do it.

MS. LONG:  So if Mr. Rubenstein's issue is that he wants to be able to work in his office on these documents and not -- I don't know what this is, carrying all this paper to his office, is that your issue and that using a CD would alleviate that concern?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To be clear, I was reading from the PO which used the term electronic.  I am fine with this being provided in hard copy.  My friends from NextBridge, back in March, I guess, provided the contract in hard copy.  My review from the other room is actually the amount of documents is significantly more manageable.  So I don't require the information in an electronic copy, either by e-mail or by thumb drive; a hard copy is fine.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I am advised by Ms. Oh that SNC-Lavalin has no difficulty in providing copies of these materials to people as long as they, A, undertake not to make copies of it, and B destroy it at the end of it.

That is, as I understand, a long-standing practice of the Board in any event, to require that they be destroyed.

MS. LONG:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  So with those two conditions, no copies of the material and that they undertake to destroy it, then we have no difficulty.  It's the electronic transmission of it that was the real concern.

MS. OH:  And to the extent there would be 
guarantees -- you know, that there would be security measures with respect to the viewing.  So in other words, if it's transmitted in an electronic format, it's really -- the undertaking, I think, would apply to the fact that it's only the person who signed the undertaking or the declaration who would view that, and that there would be no one else who could possibly have access to that electronic version of the document.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's normal practice.  The only thing I would just say to my friend is if material is going to be included in a final argument in many -- from the confidential material and that is redacted information, and it -- many times the unredacted portion -- the argument is still filed to certain parties, and I just don't -- so that I leave to the Board about how it wants to handle --


MS. LONG:  Well, I guess that gets to our next question.  It is not this Panel's wish to issue a decision that has redacted material in it, so that gets us to, I think, our second point when we talk about pricing and the numbers.  I understand that -- I mean, we obviously need to be able to discuss the differences between these two projects and price, but it is not our desire to go in camera and have these discussions.


So I understand that Staff has put together an exhibit that has at a high level the costs associated with these two projects and has invited both applicants to take a look at it.  I understand, NextBridge, you have not had an opportunity to do that, but I am going to ask both of you to take a look at it, and has it been distributed to other intervenors?


MR. MURRAY:  It has.  It was provided electronically yesterday, and I also, until I ran out of copies, I provided copies --


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. MURRAY:  -- to a number of intervenors today.


MS. LONG:  Because I am going to want to hear from people whether or not that is going to serve the purpose of people being able to direct their cross-examination on costs or whether they feel they are going to need further detail and to go in camera.


So I am going to leave that with you, because I would like to get going on this, unless anyone has -- I think we have resolved the issue with respect to the SNC-Lavalin material unless anyone else has anything they need to say, but I am canvassing the room and I see nothing.


So perhaps, Mr. Warren, Ms. Oh, you can ensure that Mr. Rubenstein is clear, and others, if they have any questions, it looks like you are able to sort this out such that the material can be disseminated in a way that will be useful but still address SNC-Lavalin's concerns with respect to confidentiality.


MR. WARREN:  That's fine, thanks.


MS. LONG:  Okay, so to the extent we need to talk about whether or not we need to deal with costing information that needs to be confidential, perhaps we will deal with that at the lunch hour, when people have had a chance to discuss and to check these numbers.  I don't know, Mr. Cass, if you are going to have an opportunity to do that, maybe end of day, I don't know.


Okay, with that being said, I would like to start.  I understand, Mr. Warren, you have a panel that's going to do some chief?


MR. WARREN:  We do have a panel.  Madam Chair, there's -- at 9:45 this morning we received the compendium of cross-examination materials from Mr. Cass.  I am instructed that it's some 350 pages long.  We have no idea at this stage -- I certainly have no idea what's in it, and I think it fair that the witnesses have an opportunity to at least see what is in it.


Now, if it is material which is already on the record, that's fine.  If it isn't material which is on the record and this is new, then the whole purpose of disclosing this in advance under the old 24-hour rule is so that witnesses are prepared to deal with it.


So with that qualification I would like a few moments at some stage to be able to look at the 350 pages to determine whether or not it is stuff which is on the record or which is new.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass --


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.


MS. LONG:  -- why is Mr. Warren getting this at 9:45 in the morning on the day of the hearing?


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will take a step back first and explain what it is.  Mr. Murphy and I will be dividing the cross-examination.  Mr. Murphy will be going first and addressing issues such as costs and technical matters.  So we have a two-volume compendium.  The first volume relates to Mr. Murphy's cross-examination; the second volume relates to mine.  The second volume that I assembled myself, it's entirely items that are on the record.  It's just bringing together items on the record into a place that will make it easier to work through them.


Mr. Murphy's compendium is essentially the same.  He has a few additional items not on the record, and he sent them out.  They were sent out by NextBridge yesterday to parties to this proceeding.


MR. WARREN:  The only additional material is what we received at five o'clock yesterday or 5:30 yesterday, then.  It's been distributed to our clients -- my client, so they are aware of it, so if it's material which is on the record we are prepared to deal with it.


MR. CASS:  Yes, again, for clarity, I believe there were four items, if I have it --


MR. WARREN:  Yes, four items.


MR. CASS:  Four items that Mr. Murphy will be referring to that are not on the record but were sent out yesterday.


MS. LONG:  Have you had a chance to review those, your witnesses?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, we have.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  I am going to remind parties, even if things are on the record, I want them to be distributed 24 hours in advance.  It's also helpful for the Hearing Panel if we have seen the material prior to us hearing evidence on it, so I will remind parties of that, thank you.


So Mr. Warren, if you can get your first panel up and introduced, and we will have them sworn.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.


Madam Chair, let me introduce the panel of witnesses.  Starting on the right-hand side --


--- Reporter appeals.


MS. LONG:  The reporter will let us know when she's ready.


--- Pause in proceedings.


MR. WARREN:  You will have to tell me when you can't hear me.  Ordinarily that's a life advantage, but...


Madam Chair and members of the Panel, starting on the right-hand side of the panel as it faced you is Christine Goulais.  Her area of responsibility is Indigenous relations.  Next to her is Elise Croll.  Her area of responsibility is with respect to environmental assessment matters.  Next to her is Andrew Spencer.  He will deal principally with issues related to costs and scheduling for the construction project.  Next to him is Sanjiv Karunakaran -- and I apologize to him and to you if I have mispronounced it.  He is a representative of SNC-Lavalin and he will deal with construction and technical issues.

Next to him is Robert Reinmuller, who has two areas of responsibility.  One is with respect to the status of the stations application; he is also familiar with the IESO matters, to the extent that they continue to be relevant.

Next to him is -- and I apologize in advance -- Pinto Unda.  Have I mispronounced it?  I have.  Perhaps you can give your name, then.

MR. PINTO:  Angel Pinto.

MR. WARREN:  He is a representative of SNC-Lavalin, and he will also be dealing with matters of construction.

And finally, on the extreme left is Aaron Fair, who is from Hydro One Networks and he will deal with land acquisition issues.

The witnesses are available to be sworn.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1
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Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, just to begin with a technical matter, you each responsible for aspects of the prefiled evidence, including the prefiled evidence update that was filed on May 7th, testimony that was given at technical conference, undertaking responses that were given from that, a further hearing of a motion within these proceedings, undertakings that were given arising out of that, and responses most recently to undertakings filed by various parties in these proceedings.

Each of you has been responsible for parts of that and for your testimony.  Do you swear that it is accurate and true to the best of your knowledge, information and belief?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we do.

MR. WARREN:  Do you need to hear from each of the witness on that point, Madam Chair?

MS. LONG:  No, he can adopt it on behalf of the panel, that's fine.

MR. WARREN:  Members of the panel, I have a brief examination-in-chief, the purpose of which is to simply bring the panel up to date on the current status of the stations application and the leave-to-construct application.

Can I begin with you, Mr. Spencer, and I would like you to address the topics of the project cost, the current state of the project cost, development costs, construction costs, and including the station construction OM&A costs and schedule.  If you could address those matters, please.

MR. SPENCER:  Good morning.  Firstly, I would like to acknowledge we are on the traditional territories of the Mississaugas of the New Credit, the Hodinoshone, and Huron-Wendat, and say miigwich to those communities for allowing us to conduct our work here today.

Good morning.  My name is Andrew Spencer, and I am the vice president of transmission and stations with Hydro One.  Myself and this panel appreciates the next few minutes to provide what we hope are helpful updates on several key issues.

As can be outlined in response to OEB Staff Number 11 at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 11, our project's overall cost remains essentially on track.  Our total cost, including development and the construction phases, has been updated to $641.8 million, a 1.0 percent increase from our leave-to-construct application in February.

This is of course presented in nominal dollars and includes all forecast escalation of costs through the entire project.

The minor increases are primarily a function of additional work associated with an updated approach to obtaining environmental assessment approvals, including incorporation of feedback from MECP staff -- Ministry of Environment Conservation and Parks staff -- to consult on a routine alternative at the western edge of the project.

Other contributing factors outlined in our response to Staff 11 includes $1.5 million of previously unbudgeted costs associated with the required relocation of existing T1M facilities in accordance with the Transmission System Code, which will be borne by either transmitter.

The fixed price EPC contract with SNC-Lavalin, which covers 85 percent of the total project cost, remains unchanged at $546.6 million, which includes the bulk of the project's $60 million of risk and contingency.

The structure and division of responsibilities in the fixed-price contract have not changed, with full accountability for engineering, material sourcing and construction with one entity, minimizing interface risks and associated mark-ups.

Regarding development phase costs, as can be referenced in our response to Staff 11, development costs have increased by $4.7 million.  This can be broken down categorically as per table 1 in the response, but must also be read with the understanding of how Hydro One has defined the development phase.

We consider it appropriate for our application that the development phase ends only when the construction phase begins; that is, upon the OEB's granting of leave to construct.

In our February application, Hydro One made an assumption of an October 2018 decision, whereas in our updated evidence, we are assuming a January 2019 decision. As a result, activities and expenditures that are planned to take place between October and January are now captured in our development phase.

This time shift from an October to January decision accounts for approximately $1.9 million of the variance, and are costs that have been removed from our construction phase.  The other significant contributor is the change in approach to obtaining environmental approvals since we filed the application, which is summarized in response to Staff 14 at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14.

Ms. Croll will elaborate later on the details.  But in summary, since May of this year we have been pursuing an individual EA in order to mitigate risk in the event the ministry does not grant a declaration order.

This change in approach has resulted in increased costs in the order of $2.4 million for additional studies and more in-depth consultation.

Regarding construction phase costs, costs for the construction phase are also outlined in table 2 of our response to Staff 11, and with the exception of $1.5 million of costs that have now been included for the relocation of the existing T1M transmission line, they have decreased slightly overall.

Looking at the categorization within table 2 of our response to Staff 11, one can see there are some categories which have decreased and others which have increased.  But overall, they can be viewed as follows.

The aforementioned $1.5 million increase due to the T1M relocation, a $1.9 million decrease due to shifting of costs into the development phase, primarily within the construction, management, engineering and procurement category; a $1.6 million increase to updated approach to environmental approvals; a $2.5 million increase associated with more comprehensive Indigenous consultation related to the individual EA; a $5.4 million decrease in contingency that has been retired from contingency and reallocated to base costs, primarily for EA and Indigenous consultation.

The remainder is smaller refinements, including project management, real estate, interest during construction and overheads.

I will reiterate, however, that even with this very small increase since February, the Lake Superior Link application is still substantially lower cost than the alternative.

As referenced in NextBridge's response to IR Staff.49, their total project forecast is now in a range up to $924 million.  Conversely, Hydro One has provided an updated upper bound of $683 million in response to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 18.

Regarding schedule, as outlined in our response to Staff 5 at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 5, Hydro One's schedule remains to deliver the project by December 2021, with a base case of receiving leave-to-construct approval in January 2019, and EA approval no later than August 2019.  Impacts on both schedule and cost for a delayed EA approval are projected in our response to Staff 7, at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7.

In summary, if awarded the leave to construct in January, we can deliver the project prior to year-end 2021 and have planned for EA approval in August 2019.

In the event we do not receive EA approval until January 2020, we can still maintain the 2021 in-service date with a small increase in construction costs.  There is substantial schedule room to deliver well in advance of the IESO's year-end 2022 objective.

Regarding station construction, an update to be aware of is further outlined in our response to SEC 27 at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 27.  As per the reference letters from May and June of 2018, the work at the Marathon transmission station will not be complete prior to December 2020 as was planned within EB-2017-0194 application for the station work, as required to declare the new transmission line used and useful.  This means that regardless as to which transmitter is selected to build the line the stations will not be completed prior to December 2020.  Mr. Reinmuller can elaborate on this area during his testimony.

To meet a December 2020 completion date for the stations, construction work should have commenced in July 2018.  However, Hydro One has not received necessary permits and approvals.  The cause of the delay is functionally a coupling by the MECP of the environmental assessment for the stations work and the NextBridge EA for the transmission lines work.  Both Hydro One and NextBridge have been jointly and independently requesting the MECP to decouple the station and lines EA, but to date the MECP has not done so.  Ms. Croll will elaborate further on this during her opening remarks.

I would like to add that NextBridge has been fully aware of this potential risk issue on the station's construction schedule since June 27th, 2018.

Regarding OM&A costs, Hydro One's projected incremental OM&A costs have not changed since our February application and still show a substantial customer benefit of at least $2.5 million per year against the continually evolving figures from NextBridge.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Spencer, finally, just before you're finished, in the interrogatory responses that have been provided by my friends at NextBridge, there is one which is found at NextBridge's response to Staff 51.  That contains some information about the information which I gather has been provided to representatives of the government of Ontario, representations with respect to Hydro One's costs in this project.  That document which is in the interrogatory response is now on the screen.  I would like you to take a few moments if you would to address the cost components which are listed in that interrogatory response.

MR. SPENCER:  Through the review of the updated evidence provided on September 24th, Hydro One was aware of some incorrect statements that have been made and wants to provide clarity to the participants in this hearing.  I will speak only to correct misrepresentation of information about Hydro One's application and leave to others to confirm the NextBridge information that was provided is correct.

One example of assertions that has been filed in evidence appear in the form of this presentation which was provided to the chief of staff, to the Minister of Environment, Conservation, and Parks around August 31st, 2018.  I will speak largely to the cost table that is shown on the screen and the misrepresentation of information.

The following is a subset of untrue statements made in reference to a minimum and maximum range of costs for Hydro One's project, and clarifications and corrections can be provided as follows:  Firstly, the statement says Hydro One's realistic costs are higher than NextBridge's and could be as high as $1.1 billion without meeting policy and stakeholder objectives of a 2020 in-service date.

Based on an incredibly vast amount of evidence available for these applications, Hydro One's application is substantially lower cost than NextBridge's, no matter which way one looks at it.

Number two --


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, and I apologize for interrupting again.  We heard the subject this morning of information being provided in advance.  NextBridge has provided two volumes of a compendium that essentially is information that is on the record with four new items that were provided yesterday.  We are now hearing extensive examination-in-chief that seems to me could readily have been provided to NextBridge in advance so that this could have been taken into account for preparation of cross-examination.

I don't know why NextBridge should be in the position of hearing this testimony for the first time just as we are starting the hearing this morning and we are soon going to be embarking on cross-examination.

MR. WARREN:  Well, my friend's comparing apples and oranges.  The requirement to provide information in advance is in advance of cross-examination.  I am trying not to cross-examine my panel.  I would be providing information to Mr. Cass's client in advance of cross-examination in keeping with the Board's practice.

This is in fact an exhibit which has been prepared by -- has been presented by Mr. Cass's client in response to interrogatory response.  We will have no opportunity to respond to this evidence.  This is our only opportunity to respond to it, and we think it incumbent on us to provide information so that the Board can fairly compare the costs.

So if Mr. Cass has elected to put -- I'm sorry, if Mr. Cass's client has elected to put this information forward, surely he can't be said he is caught by surprise by an interrogatory response filed by his witness.

But the issue is, this is our only opportunity to be able to respond to this evidence, and that's why we are taking a moment to do it.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, the point is quite simply this could have been provided prior to today so that it would be taken into account in preparation for cross-examination.  That's the simple point.

MS. LONG:  Well, I think Mr. Warren can continue, because I would like to know what the position is on this.  You will have time at the break to analyze what the witness panel has said, and if you feel you are disadvantaged then you can let me know.  But you will have 20 minutes to consider this testimony, and I suspect you may want to cross-examine on it during your cross, so let me know if that is not sufficient.

MR. SPENCER:  I will continue, thank you.

So stepping through the key items in the table that's displayed on the screen, number two, NextBridge development spend to the end of August is $35.2 million.  While true, and NextBridge has spent more than $75 million on this project to date, $35 million beyond what they have labelled as development costs, this is in no way a function of Hydro One's application and in no way affects our minimum or maximum price.

Thirdly, the cost to the electricity system if not in-service by 2020 with a range of 21- to $145 million.  The assertion that our project cannot be in-service until 2024 is entirely incorrect as presented in evidence to be heard during this proceeding.  We have demonstrated in multiple places, most notably Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7, how we can have the project in-service well before the required date of year-end 2022.

The range of additional system costs is misleading and erroneous in that it ignores the simple economics that a deferred in-service is actually a customer benefit from a rate-making perspective.  That is, Hydro One's project, even accounting for the potential system costs, will produce ratepayer benefits up until 2025.  This was provided in response to PW6 at Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 6.  Further information can be found at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 17, as well as Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 22.

Number four, Hydro One may have additional costs of up to $79 million due to admitted inflation or escalation costs.  This is certainly not the case.  All costs within Hydro One's application are presented in nominal dollars.  There are zero omitted costs due to escalation.  The only exceptions are in Exhibit B, tab 9, schedule 1 and Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 22, where figures comparing the economics of the two applications are expressed in present value dollars.

Number five, due to a difference in the AACE estimate classification, Hydro One's costs could be as high as $64 million higher than the upper bound of NextBridge's cost estimate.  Hydro One has provided evidence through multiple references regarding the nature of the pricing structure, and this information ought to have been well known to NextBridge.  The most specific and relevant reference at the end of August is in Exhibit JT2.25, filed May 25th, in which Hydro One articulates an upper bound of 6 percent above nominal costs.

Number six, on page 3 of the presentation regarding Hydro One's approach and plan for Indigenous consultation and participation, which certainly are presented out of context and inconsistent with Hydro One's evidence.  For example, the statement that Hydro One Networks Inc.'s leave to construct did not include any cost for Indigenous participation, which means $7 million of costs are missing from Hydro One's leave to construct, is factually incorrect. As presented in Exhibit TCJ2.21, Hydro One has in fact budgeted over $18 million, more than double what NextBridge has for the economic participation in the construction phase of the project.  This is in addition to the envisioned enhanced participation through Indigenous partnership and ownership of the Lake Superior link, as outlined on page 12 of Hydro One's additional evidence to the motion to dismiss filed May 7th.

Ms. Goulais will provide evidence on these matters in her testimony.

Number 7; if Hydro One networks is not allowed to go through the park, Pukaskwa National Park, an additional cost of $80 million should be expected.  Aside from selective information provided out of context, the incremental figure of $80 million is wrong.  The correct figure, as presented in Exhibit JT2.23, is approximately $37 million.

Number 8; as part of NextBridge's construction cost estimate, a contingency amount was included of 6 percent. Hydro One has only included a contingency of 1.5 percent.  This information is incorrect, and Hydro One presented correct figures in multiple places, including Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, table 3 in February, as well as in Exhibit JT 2.21 in May.  Hydro One has a contingency of 10.2 percent, or $64 million.

These corrections are just a subset of the information that is presented in this proceeding out of context, and to the stakeholders outside of this proceeding as well.

Hydro One hopes that throughout this hearing, we can be helpful to provide further information and clarity over the course that demonstrates the merits of our application in terms of lasting benefits to customers, reduced environmental impacts, and enhanced economic benefits to Indigenous communities.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Karunakaran, I'd like to turn to you, please, and ask you to briefly address two matters.  One is with respect to the design or change in design of the towers that will be in Pukaskwa Park, the rational for it and the impact, if any, on the matters of schedule and environmental assessment, and secondly, the question broadly of technical compliance with the OEB's requirements.

Dealing with first with the park, have the tower designs changed and if so, why and in what way?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  For the vast part of the line, the tower has remained predominantly the same.  For the section through the Pukaskwa National Park, the four-circuit towers, the structure design has been amended from the actual structure that we had previously had in our section 92 filing, and that was presented at the motion to dismiss technical conference.

The rationale behind this is an actual improvement in the actual structure type to be utilized.  There are some real net benefits associated with the structure type that is now being utilized, which is actually a guyed mast structure which follows the same family of structures that's being utilized on the rest of the project, with the obvious deviation being that it's four-circuit structure as opposed to a two-circuit structure.

In particular, some of the benefits associated with this is when you look at the installation of the actual works themselves, it allows a greater degree of the construction activities to be done prior to the double circuit outage that's necessary to finalize the construction of the works in the park.

The second aspect to it is even during the stages of the double circuit outage, it gives you greater flexibility under the actual outage conditions given the geometry of the actual structure to be installed.

And one of the net benefits around the longer term aspects behind this is you will actually have an improved environmental aspect, because from a visual impacts assessment, this is actually a smaller structure than what was previously proposed, the larger four-legged structure. And with the way you are doing the installation associated with this, the existing foundations that are presently there within the park will be removed at ground level, and the surrounding area would be allowed to re-naturalize or return to natural vegetation in the longer term.

MR. WARREN:  Is there any change in the environmental impact of this new design?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, is the line, including the towers, in compliance with the OEB's requirements for the construction of the East West Tie?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I believe so, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Croll, could you please bring the Board up to date on matters with respect to environmental assessment?

MS. CROLL:  Good morning.  My name is Elise Croll, and I am the director of environmental services at Hydro One.  I will provide an update on the progress we have made with respect to the environmental assessment approval project for the Lake Superior link.

Since the filing of our section 92 in February 2018 and subsequent technical hearing on NextBridge's motion in May, Hydro One has made significant progress.

I will start with the updates to the provincial environmental assessment process.  We continue to pursue an individual EA in parallel to the declaration order process.  As part of the individual EA process, we initially expected to only address changes in scope from the NextBridge EA, which would really be limited to the park route and some very minor changes in the twinge sections -- so, for example, a narrower corridor width.

This was based on the extensive work already completed by NextBridge.  We made the reasonable assumption that all other preferred route portions would be the same.

Since May, we completed the draft terms of reference for our individual EA.  We have also conducted significant additional consultation, including formal community information centres between June 11th and 14th.  We have submitted the revised draft terms of reference to MECP, Ministry of Environment Conservation and Parks, and are now awaiting the Minister's decision on the terms of reference, which is due November 30th.  This allows for the formal 12-week review period which began on September 7th.

We have also completed studies and consultations with provincial and federal agencies, including the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks, Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines, Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, Parks Canada, Environment and Climate Change Canada, and consulted with municipal councils, Indigenous communities, and numerous other interested parties.  A full list of consultation is provided in our terms of reference.

Although our preferred route remains a bypass around the Dorion-Loon Lake area, since May we've received comments from MNRF that we needed to study alternative routes through Dorion.  This was unexpected and not part of our scope, since NextBridge had already studied this route and it had been eliminated.

However, it has created an additional study area that was not anticipated in May.  Our estimated timeline assumed an approval date for NextBridge's individual EA by the end of Q4 2018, the rationale for which is outlined in Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 14C.  But we were informed on September 24th, in NextBridge's interrogatory submissions, that NextBridge now does not expect approval until February 2019.

Based on a submission date of our material to the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks of January 31st, 2019, for an application for a declaration order, we would expect to receive such a declaration order on August 15th, 2019.  This date is the basis for our current schedule and cost.

Alternatively, based on a submission date of January 31st, 2019, for our draft scoped individual EA document, regulatory review of the final document in March 2019, allowing for typical regulated timelines, we would expect to receive individual EA approval around October 7th, 2019.

We have considered the implications of a two-month delay on the NextBridge EA approval, and have determined that this would, in turn, add two months to both the declaration order timetable and the individual EA timetable.

The implications of this delay are outlined in Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 7, table 1, our EA approval date scenario analysis.

I will now provide updates to the Parks Canada EA approval.

Parks Canada intended to review the provincial EA documentation, whether declaration order or individual EA, to fulfil their own regulatory requirements.  In June 2018, Hydro One provided Parks Canada with the draft terms of reference for our individual EA.  We also provided final work plans, research and collection permit applications, and we have begun environmental studies.

Our individual EA terms of reference submission to Parks Canada in June included the addition of an alternative route analysis through Dorion which, as I previously mentioned, was a request of MNRF.  Given the larger scope of the provincial EA document, Parks Canada asked that the information relating to the park study area be extracted and packaged separately from the full individual EA for ease of review by Parks Canada.  This document will now fulfil the requirements of the detailed impact assessment.  However, this does not change any of the studies or consultation required or the schedule of the Parks Canada approval.

Parks Canada requested that Hydro One consult with certain Indigenous communities prior to issuing permission to conduct studies within the park boundaries.  We will be continuing to collaborate with communities to complete the remaining seasonal studies in the park, which we expect to complete next spring.

A new terms of reference for the detailed impact assessment has been submitted to Parks Canada, and we will be submitting the detailed impact assessment to Parks Canada in February of 2019, conditional on completion of the studies I just mentioned.

We expect that the final approval from Parks Canada will coincide with the EA approval from the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation, and Parks, since Parks Canada has informed us that it wants to ensure the provincial EA is approved prior to issuing their final detailed impact assessment approval.

Also in September, we engaged with Parks Canada on the tower design to minimize environmental impacts associated with the preferred design and specifically the foundations.  Parks Canada confirmed to us that both the original tower design and reduced footprint designs are both options which we may consider.  This confirmation was provided in an e-mail dated August 29th, 2018, which is included as Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 14, attachment 5.

I will now reference some updates to our costs.  As we provided in Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 11, we provided a more detailed explanation of the increases in environmental approval costs over the life of the project.  These are approximately $4 million.  These are primarily attributable to the following:  Firstly, changes in the process of the scoped individual EA; also, the requirement I mentioned to study and consult upon an alternative route for the Dorion-Loon Lake area which had already been excluded by NextBridge in its EA and was unexpected, as well as additional archeological studies required as a result of minor changes in the locations of tower bases.

I will add an update on station upgrades with respect to environmental assessment.  Hydro One completed the required class EA work for the Marathon station in May 2018, and the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks has acknowledged that the work is complete.  However, in May, MECP advised us that they would not issue any further permits or approvals for the station work until the EA for the transmission line was approved.  This means they are essentially coupling the line and station EA approval process.

Since then we have been engaged with MECP to understand whether there is any opportunity for the work to commence on the stations prior to the EA approval for the line.

We also notified NextBridge of the MECP position and have been working collaboratively with them to see if MECP will issue permits on the stations so that the work can proceed.  However, to date MECP is maintaining its position.

With respect to work at the Wawa TS, we understand that a Part 2 order request was submitted by the Michipicoten First Nation on July 5th, 2018.  This request essentially means that they are asking that the station project is subject to a more rigorous form of environmental assessment.

MECP has been considering the request which, if accepted, would result in the need for an individual EA and delay matters for whomever is the successful line proponent.  We have a consultation agreement with Michipicoten specifically related to the Wawa TS expansion project, and additionally we have engaged Michipicoten in discussions to better understand their concerns in hopes that we might resolve them and they might then withdraw the Part 2 order request.

The MECP position means that an in-service date of 2020 is not achievable, as we would have needed to start construction this past July 2018 per our schedule.  NextBridge is well aware of this.

We can, assuming the EA line approval by the end of Q4 2018, or the expected current time frame of February 2019, achieve a December 2021 in-service date.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Briefly, Ms. Goulais, I wonder if you could update the Panel on the Indigenous consultations.

MS. GOULAIS:  Can everybody hear me?  Boozhoo.  Christine Goulais [microphone not activated] 


Good morning and boozhoo.  Christine Goulais N'dizhnikaaz, Nbiising Donjiba.  Dizh-wenokii, Hydro One.  Good morning, everybody.  My name is Christine Goulais.  I work with Hydro One in their Indigenous relations department, and I am a member of Nipissing First Nation.

I am going to provide you with an update on some progress we have made with regards to Indigenous consultation on our proposed project.

Since the filing of our section 92 in February of 2018 and subsequent hearing on NextBridge's motion in May 2018, Hydro One has made significant progress with regards to Indigenous consultation on its proposed project.  We have met with all 18 Indigenous communities identified by the Crown via the Ministry of Energy.  Some of these communities we have met with on several occasions.

In addition to the lists provided by the Crown, we have met with four additional communities who have expressed interest on the project.  We have signed capacity funding agreements with five communities and are currently negotiating several agreements with other communities.

Consultation with Indigenous communities has been focused on sharing project-related information, meeting to discuss the project and understand community concerns, formalizing capacity funding agreements, and commenting on the draft -- or commenting on the terms of reference for the environmental assessment.

In addition, several of the Indigenous communities are actively participating in the archeology work.  Hydro One's detailed consultation log can be found in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 15, attachment 1, which provides much more detailed summary of our consultation efforts to date.

Hydro One acknowledges that accommodation is a very important aspect of consultation.  As we have indicated in our evidence to date, Hydro One's approach to accommodation includes a package of benefits, including but not limited to capacity funding, contracting and employment opportunities, and a commercial partnership opportunity for communities that make up the Bamkushwada Limited partnership.

All Indigenous communities have been offered capacity funding agreements in relation to this project, which includes capacity for the opportunity to hire a consultation coordinator from their community, participate in EA-related reviews, traditional knowledge studies, and to host community meetings.

The purpose of these capacity funding agreements is to provide Indigenous communities with the capacity they need to be meaningfully consulted on this project.

With regards to employment and contracting, Hydro One and its construction partner SNC-Lavalin are committed to maximizing Indigenous employment and contracting opportunities on this project.

Substantial economic participation opportunities in the forms of employment and Indigenous contracting are an important aspect of our project, and we fully intend to maximize these opportunities for Indigenous communities and businesses.

In addition, Hydro One is in a unique position to provide lasting employment opportunities throughout its network across the province for skilled Indigenous workers beyond the construction of this project.

As indicated in our interrogatory response to OEB Staff 11, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 11, the costs associated with Indigenous consultation have increased, and there are several reasons why the cost has gone up.

First, as you have heard from my colleague Ms. Croll the environmental assessment scope has changed from the declaration order to an individual EA.  Although the preferred option remains the declaration order, the additional studies and resources required for an individual environment assessment have led to an increase in the Indigenous consultation budget to allow for Indigenous communities to be meaningfully consulted on the project, including the EA.

Second, in addition to the 18 Indigenous communities identified by the Crown, an additional four Indigenous communities have expressed an interest in the project.  Hydro One is required to consult with any Indigenous community that expresses interest.  Hence the need for additional resources to accommodate the interest of these four Indigenous communities.

Third, although Hydro One received delegation from the Crown via the --


--- Reporter appeals.

MS. GOULAIS:  Oh, sorry.  Sure, an additional four Indigenous communities have expressed an interest in the project.  Hydro One is required to consult with any Indigenous community that expresses an interest on the project, hence the need for additional resources to accommodate the interest of these additional four communities.

Third, although Hydro One received delegation from the Crown via the Ministry of Energy in March 2018 with regards to consultation, the depth of consultation was not provided.  Hydro One and the Ministry of Energy have a memorandum of understanding that clarifies roles and responsibilities with regards to consultation on major projects.

The Ministry of Energy is required to provide depth of consultation for each community.  However, that was not included in their delegation letter.  Instead, the Ministry of Energy identified all 18 communities as rights-based, and therefore Hydro One is required to consult with all communities equally.  This leads to additional time and costs than what was included in our original budget.

Finally, throughout its consultation efforts on this project, it has been brought to Hydro One's attention that some communities are not satisfied with the level of consultation undertaken by NextBridge, particularly in relation to the EA.  Given that, Hydro One is required to do more than anticipated from an Indigenous consultation perspective with regards to the environmental assessment, which again requires additional costs.

Hydro One has made significant progress on the Indigenous consultation aspect of this project, and will continue our consultation effort on this project in such a way that provides all Indigenous communities impacted by our proposed project an opportunity to be meaningfully consulted.

Hydro One will continue to undertake its work in the spirit of respect, cooperation, and mutual benefit.  Our proposed project has a smaller footprint, reduced environmental impacts, and superior economic opportunities that provide long-term sustainable benefits for Indigenous communities.

Given Hydro One directly serves 89 First Nation communities and thousands of Métis across the province, it is critical that we continue our work with Indigenous communities in a respectful and cooperative way.  Hydro One fully intends to continue to build and maintain respectful relationships with Indigenous communities, people we serve today, those impacted by this project and future projects.  Miigwich.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, very briefly, Mr. Reinmuller, can you advise the panel, please, of the status of the building of the stations, firstly.  And secondly, can you advise the panel whether there have been any updates to the IESO's needs and reliability assessment.

MR. REINMULLER:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Robert Reinmuller.  I am director of system planning at Hydro One and I will just provide a very brief update on the two items.

From the station project perspective, from a need perspective we see no changes in re-enforcing the stations that are supporting the East-West corridor in the northern part of the province.

From a timing perspective, as my colleagues mentioned earlier, there's issues with the issuance of the necessary permits and approvals for the East-West Tie station project.  As a result, the project is expected to be completed by the end of 2021.

In terms of IESO updates, we have reviewed the addendum that IESO provided to OEB, as well as the latest 18 months published report that was published actually on September 20th, and the documents are in concert to each other, indicating that there is continued flat load demand in the province and sufficient transfer capabilities to serve the existing load in the northwest.

This also confirms what IESO has stated earlier, that they will be able to manage the capacity shortfall through interim measures until 2022, at which point they are no longer available or able to meet that demand.

Those are my updates.

MR. WARREN:  One final question, which is addressed to either you, Mr. Reinmuller, or to Ms. Croll.  It wasn't clear to me from what you said -- you talked about the linkage by the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks from the EA process for the stations and the EA process for the line as a whole, and you talked about -- you said that the line could not be in service by 2020, it would have to be at a minimum of 2021.

Is that just for Hydro One or NextBridge, or anybody who builds the line?

MS. CROLL:  That's for anyone who builds the line.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Murphy, you are going to do cross-examination, I understand, first.  We are going to take a break until quarter to 12.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, just for everyone's information, there are hard copies of the two volumes of the compendium for anybody who needs or would like to have a hard copy.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:28 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:52 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Murphy, are you ready to begin?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I also want to let you know that we do not see us going into any confidential material, either myself or Mr. Cass.

MS. LONG:  Good, thank you.  Can I just confirm, so you have a compendium 1 and 2.  Can we mark those?  And is this something you are going to be referring to as well?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So why don't we mark --


MR. MURRAY:  We will mark the compendium as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  NEXTBRIDGE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1.

MR. MURRAY:  And is there another?

MS. LONG:  There is a group of additional documents.

MR. MURRAY:  Additional documents will be Exhibit K1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS FOR NEXTBRIDGE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF HONI PANEL 1


MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have that before them?

MR. SPENCER:  Can I seek clarification on the additional documents?  Are those the ones transmitted yesterday evening?

MS. LONG:  Are you going to be referring to those with this panel?  I am assuming, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So it looks like this.

MR. SPENCER:  And are they not -- sorry, are they not included in Volume 1 or Volume 2?

MR. MURPHY:  We will get them to you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So while you are waiting for those, you have a Volume 1 bound and a Volume 2 bound.

MR. SPENCER:  We do.

MS. LONG:  And you are waiting for the additional documents.

Okay, everybody has got what they need there?  Mr. Murphy, please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murphy:

MR. MURPHY:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Brian Murphy, and I will be asking you questions on behalf of NextBridge.

Turning to tab 1, there are four letters.  Three of the letters are from your then CEO, Mayo Schmidt, to the CEO of the IESO, the Chair of the OEB, and the Minister of Energy.  Are you familiar with those letters?

MR. SPENCER:  We have them, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  The fourth letter is from the IESO back to Mayo Schmidt.  The letters are from your CEO and state that Hydro One is prepared to submit a leave-to-construct application for the East-West Tie line with a not-to-exceed price guarantee, subject --


MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, if I may interrupt --


MR. MURPHY:  Sure.

MR. SPENCER:  -- which attachment are you referring to at this point, please?

MR. MURPHY:  The first letter, the third, and the fourth.  Those are from your CEO.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  And I am confirming that in those letters your CEO stated that Hydro One is prepared to submit a leave-to-construct application for the East-West Tie line with a not-to-exceed-price guarantee subject to meetings with the IESO.  You can find that in the fourth full paragraph of each letter.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  These letters also state that the application, the leave to construct, will be filed in December of 2017; isn't that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is what the letters state, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  The second letter in tab 1, from the IESO back to Mayo Schmidt, states that the IESO declines the invitation to meet with Hydro One on its proposal.  You can see that in the third full paragraph; right?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Moving to tab 2, and this is just an extract.  On October 13th, 2007 (sic), Hydro One nonetheless sent the IESO a proposal to design, build, and operate the East-West Tie line.  These are extracted two pages from that proposal; do you recognize that?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Are you familiar with the proposal?

MR. SPENCER:  We are, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  The proposal was sent one month after your CEO initiated the letters to the IESO, the OEB, the Minister of Energy discussed in tab 1; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. MURPHY:  On page 9, the second page in tab 2, towards the bottom, the proposal states your project estimate is $650 million, do you see that in bold?

MR. WARREN:  I apologize for interrupting, Mr. Murphy, but the tab 2 in the book I have is not correspondence but appears to be a diagram of a tower, so I am not sure what my friend is referring to when he says tab 2 or what letters he is referring to.

MR. MURPHY:  If you look on the other side of the page with the tower, and you see the bold print, the third paragraph from the bottom.

MR. WARREN:  But I don't see that as a correspondence -- I am sorry, is that part of a correspondence, Mr. Murphy?  That's what I am confused about.

MR. MURPHY:  This is part of Hydro One's proposal to the IESO, was a correspondence on October 13th, 2017.

MR. WARREN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  I go back to Mr. Spencer.  Hello again. On page 9, I was pointing out that the proposal states that your project estimate is $650 million; do you see that?  It's right under "cost estimate".

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And then later on it also states that you're targeting an all-in price of less than $600 million with a guaranteed-not-to-exceed provision; do you see that as well?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Move on to tab 3.  This is a briefing note from your COO to your board of directors on November 10th, 2017; are you familiar with this?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, I am.

MR. MURPHY:  On page 1, at the bottom, in the last full paragraph, it repeats the approximate value of the project as $600 million; do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Please clarify that reference.

MR. MURPHY:  Under "approach" you have paragraph number 1, and you have paragraph number 2.  And there it states an approximate value of $600 million in the middle of that paragraph of your proposal.

MR. SPENCER:  And in that same sentence it's that we are aiming to file an application with that.

MR. MURPHY:  Correct.  On the top of page 2 again we see the language of the not-to-exceed proposal for your board of directors' consideration, at the very top.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, I see it.

MR. MURPHY:  Tab 4, this is an IR response.  Hydro One, between the briefing note that we just talked about in November to the board and the board meeting in December, received a fixed-price engineering procurement and construction estimate from SNC-Lavalin; is that correct, that the response says that?  You see it under C, second paragraph.

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And in that, you settled on a project estimate of $636 million?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Tab 5, board deck of December 8th, page 1, the $636 million figure was presented to your board in this deck, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  The deck included a not-to-exceed price of 636 million.  Do you see that on page 1 as well?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. MURPHY:  In fact, the price that the project stayed at 636 million through the filing of your leave to construct in February of 2018, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  It did.

MR. MURPHY:  The deck also states on page 5 that the not-to-exceed price would be the first of its kind in Ontario.  Take your time, go to page 5.

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  We will move to Tab 6.  This is another briefing note that was a follow-up to a December board meeting, is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  In it, your chief operating officer wrote on page 1, in the second full paragraph under not-to-exceed capital cost, that the board expressed concern regarding the risk profile of the investment. Do you see that language in the second full paragraph?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that paragraph, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And this also says the risk profile for unrecovered cost increases with the inclusion of a price cap; do you see that language?  It is in the fourth sentence down.

MR. SPENCER:  I see it, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And then in the next sentence, it says:  
"On the balance of our review, we intend to withdraw the price cap component of our proposal."

Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Go to Tab 7.  Now, starting with your response to Staff Board IR 18, as of a week ago Monday, that stated that you're now reconsidering the not-to-exceed price proposal; is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  So updated from this compendium in front of us, we have filed an unredacted version of this interrogatory response, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  It also states -- excuse me.  Based on what we've already talked about with your board withdrawing the original price cap proposal, it's fair to say that any approval of the Ontario Energy Board of your current proposal would have to be approved by your board?

MR. SPENCER:  To clarify, the board has approved our submission of our application as it stands before the Board.  And in response to the unredacted version of Staff 18, we have clarified that should Hydro One be chosen as the preferred alternative, we would seek board approval.

Now, since that time of this writing, I can provide an update in that we in fact have scheduled agenda time with our board on October 16th, where we'll provide them additional information on the status of the project and we are anticipating we will be seeking approval of their endorsement of the not-to-exceed price, should we -- should the board decide to proceed down that route in November of 2018.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Turning to tab 8, in your application, you estimated your development costs to be $12.2 million, that's correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Your estimate of $12.2 million was based on a forecast of what the development costs would be in October 2018?

MR. SPENCER:  Up to the point of October 2018, correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  That's when you expected the OEB to render a decision on the leave-to-construct application?

MR. SPENCER:  That's when we forecast the OEB may render a decision, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Turning to the second page on tab 8, the Board in its Phase 2 proceeding -- I am sorry, in its Phase 2 order in the designation proceeding states that the actual cost of development of the NextBridge project is to be recorded from the date of the order in 2013 to the filing of the leave to construct.  Do you see that language on this extract from that order?

MR. SPENCER:  Could you maybe point it out slightly more specifically, please?  Which numbered point?

MR. MURPHY:  It's number 4.

MR. SPENCER:  Item 4, thank you.  I see it, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  But it's Hydro One's position that your development costs are incurred all the way up through the leave-to-construct order being issued.  Tab 9 --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Spencer, could you answer yes or no?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, that is correct, as defined in our prefiled evidence at Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1.

MR. MURPHY:  Are you familiar with NextBridge's March 14, 2018, filing detailing its development costs?

MR. SPENCER:  In general, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  In the response set forth in tab 9, you state that you do not track development costs with the level of detail included in NextBridge's March 14, 2018, filing.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that statement in reference to this interrogatory response, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Rather, your submission on development cost estimates is set forth in response to Staff 11 at page 2, and you can find that on tab 10, page 2.  Do you see that table?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see the table, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And this is the level of detail of your development costs at this time, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  This is the level presented in evidence, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Here in table 1, it shows your development costs are going up from 12 million to just under 17 million.

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, $4.7 million, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  About a $5 million increase due to an increase from an issuance of the OEB order in October to one in mid-January?

MR. SPENCER:  And if you recall in my opening remarks, I provided some continuity around the contributing factors.  Approximately 1.9 million of that was a function of the change in timing of the end of our development phase from October until January 2019.

MR. MURPHY:  Turning to tab 11, this is another IR response, September 24th.  You spent about $4.4 million to date in development costs, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's the cost that Hydro One has spent on this project.  And just as a note, SNC-Lavalin, for the first portion of their project, did not charge Hydro One for those costs.  So they are inherently not included in this table.

MR. MURPHY:  And SNC-Lavalin recently redid the tower design for routing through the park, the quad circuit tower design?

MR. SPENCER:  Mr. Karunakaran can speak to that when the time is right.

MR. MURPHY:  That is correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  That work was not done for free, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Given that you have spent $4.4 million as of today or about a week ago, it appears that you're also going to spend about 12- to $13 million between now and mid-January 2019; isn't that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's the forecast, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

Now let's turn to tab 12.

MR. SPENCER:  Just, sorry a slight clarification.  I believe these costs may be as the end of August month-end reporting period, so the timing on the September, it could bridge into either one of those periods.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you for the clarification.

Turning to tab 12.  And here just above the bold all-cap words "next steps upcoming milestones", it says there:

"Pursuit costs will be written off if not successful."

The terminology -- and take your time and look at 
it -- my interpretation is that this is talking about your development costs; isn't that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, and Hydro One's position has always been if in the unfortunate outcome that we are not selected as the transmitter to construct the Lake Superior Link project those costs would not be sought for recovery from ratepayers and would be a cost the company bears.

MR. MURPHY:  Go to tab 13.  And I believe I have probably about four or five that are not in the compendium that I will need to call up, and this first one is JT2.19, attachment 1.

MR. SPENCER:  And are these the additional materials handed out?

MR. MURPHY:  It should be part of it.  If it's not just tell me.  I want you to have a copy.

MR. SPENCER:  They're just not consistently numbered, so I will try to find it in my --


MR. MURPHY:  And we will bring it up, and I apologize for -- and we will go through these a little slower.

MR. SPENCER:  I appreciate that, thank you.  For clarification, JT2.19?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  Okay.

MR. MURPHY:  Actually, I apologize, I would like to start with a briefing note, the January 15th briefing note that is in the compendium, and on page 2 of that.  And this is a briefing note from your chief operating officer, a follow-up from the December board meeting.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, is that at tab 13?

MR. MURPHY:  That should be at tab 13.  You should have in bold letters "briefing note".  On the screen is exactly where I want to be.  And there in the first bullet it says:

"On average, projects such as the project you are about to endeavour have a cost variance of 22 percent."

Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that, but the context behind this bullet is important, if I may elaborate.  This was in response to a set of specific projects identified by our board of directors, and they asked how our application was similar or different from these projects.  So in that context I see the statement, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, 22 percent is at somewhat of the high range of the ACE class 3 estimate, which is a minus 22 or plus 30.

MR. SPENCER:  So if I may suggest, the comparison of this figure of 22 percent and the ACE classification framework is perhaps not the right way to look at this.  In these particular projects reference from a benchmarking perspective, including the variance explanations in the pages that follow, this was intended to provide clarification around Hydro One's application versus other projects that some members of our board were very familiar with.

We, as can be alluded to when one reads further on, we have undertaken significant benchmarking reviews with SNC-Lavalin and as best we can guarded against the risks that some of these projects incurred through from their initial costs through to their final completion costs.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's just work with the class 3 estimate then.  In a class 3 estimate, it was your position that at the time of your application your total project cost was a class 3 estimate; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Class 3 estimate in terms of the maturity of the underlying deliverables, but we have also provided clarity through undertakings on the range of the dollar value of our project cost estimate updated in Staff 18, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 18, to be an upper bound of $683 million.

MR. MURPHY:  And that's based on your experience?

MR. SPENCER:  No.  That is based on a combination of the fixed-price contract developed in coordination with SNC-Lavalin and the associated division of responsibilities that are detailed within the EPC contract provided in evidence, as well as Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin's joint experience on all project development and construction activities.

MR. MURPHY:  So staying with the class 3 estimate, are you saying that you are not at a class 3 estimate?  You are at a class 1 estimate?

MR. SPENCER:  The AACE classification framework -- and I will elaborate slightly, because I suspect many members of this proceeding are not as familiar with it as you may be, Mr. Murphy.  It is an industry standard methodology that attempts to compartmentalize accuracy of cost estimates based on the amount of underlying work that has been completed:  engineering, risk assessment, scheduling, et cetera.  One does not need to look at the classification of the AACE class estimate as a direct correlation to the upper and lower bounds of the cost estimate itself.

So from an underlying overall project maturity of the underlying deliverables on the overall project, as our evidence states, we are currently at a class 3, yes.  However, our cost tolerance is much tighter than the upper bounds and lower bounds of the AACE class 3 framework.

MR. MURPHY:  Your current total project cost is $641 million; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  641.8, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Just doing what I consider simple math -- and I am not an engineer, and I know engineers are much better in math than I am, so take this subject to check if you want to -- using that 641 number, and the upper end of AACE class 3, 30 percent, I come up with a total cost of $835 million.  If I use 20 percent I come up with a total cost of $770 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. SPENCER:  That arithmetic is correct, but I'd like to also draw your attention and the Board's to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 18, where we attempt, perhaps not clearly, to articulate how we have defined the upper bound, and it is consistent with the exact same methodology that we did during the technical conference provided at Exhibit JT2.25.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 15.  This is your risk matrix?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  I just went through each dollar amount that you put down for potential risk that if it materialized and added up those numbers, and would you take subject to check if you add all those numbers up it comes up to $15 million?  It's not exactly 15.  I probably rounded down.

MR. SPENCER:  If one were to add up the dollar values in the cost impact column, subject to check I will trust that your arithmetic is correct.  However, that is not necessarily the context in which one should understand and view a risk register.

MR. MURPHY:  I was taking it that if all the risks that had dollar amounts actually materialized.

So now turning to item 3 on that risk matrix.  In the comments it states -- and you spoke to this in your direct case this morning -- that if EA is not approved by August 2019, that you'll have to rebase your schedule and rebase your costs; do you see those comments?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see that, and that's in context of our response to Staff 7 as well.

MR. MURPHY:  And the likelihood of the probability is 94 percent.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  That is a range of probabilities within the risk assessment methodology, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Turning to tab 17, you brought this up this morning, and certain scenarios, your costs, if the EA approval moves and your in-service date moves, using just the simple -- the lower right-hand corner, approximately $15 million of increased costs?

MR. SPENCER:  That's consistent with the table, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, if we go back to tab 5 -- and I hope not to do this a lot, back and forth, but I know I do it a couple of times -- on page 6, there it states that -- let me make sure I have it.

It states that the inability -- these are the bullets at the bottom, the inability to use the EA work completed by NextBridge is the largest risk to the project's success.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see that reference, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Go to page 10, the same board deck.  And there, in the second full bullet, it states the inability of Hydro One to be given permission to utilize the EA work completed by NextBridge would cost $30 million; do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  In the second bullet, yes, I see that, in the order of $30 million, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to Tab 16.  This is from your application.  This is from the heading "risk elements not included in the Hydro One price", and I am looking at the fourth bullet down.  It says "any conditions imposed by regulatory bodies or governmental agencies."

So to confirm, conditions that are imposed by these agencies or regulatory bodies are not included in your current Hydro One price?

MR. SPENCER:  They are not included, but at this point, they are also a total unknown.  There could be a very wide spectrum that we would need to consider.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 18, and this is a response that NextBridge provided, and I draw your attention to the second column.  Go down to E-6, and there these are -- “new scope requirements” is the title, and it states that the MNRF conservation reserve requirement is $1.15 million; do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see this, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  So that type of condition is the one we were just discussing that's not in your cost estimate?

MR. SPENCER:  I will let Ms. Croll elaborate on this specific one point.

MS. CROLL:  I'd have to check back with staff on what's included.  I mean, I think the intent of excluding conditions put on by regulators is outside of typical conditions that you'd see in an EA, such as timing windows for species at risk or anything like that.

I would have to check back with staff on that particular example.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to the next example, E-7, $20 million for timber stacking and loading, a condition that's not currently in your EA -- in your leave-to-construct price?

MR. SPENCER:  Mr. Murphy, we would have to clarify if that is or is not included in our overall project price of $642 million.

MS. CROLL:  Also keeping in mind that the footprint of our right-of-way is 50 percent less than that of NextBridge.  So we wouldn't have the same costs.

MR. MURPHY:  So subject to check --


MS. CROLL:  Subject to check.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Let's go to tab 20.

MR. SPENCER:  Is there an undertaking there or no?

MR. MURPHY:  I don't desire an undertaking.  If you want to check on a break, that's fine.  When Mr. Cass cross-examines, if you want to clarify, that's fine.

MR. SPENCER:  Just for clarity, thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, go to tab 20, the first page –-


MR. SPENCER:  So we're at tab 17 now?

MR. MURPHY:  Tab 20, on the very first page at the top, and this is an excerpt from NextBridge's independent tower design and testing expert, Mr. Nickerson, that was presented in the motion to dismiss.  Do you recognize this?  Your technical experts may want to take a look at this.

MR. SPENCER:  We are just turning it up.

MR. MURPHY:  If you need more copies, again, just let me know, I am happy to get you more copies.

MR. SPENCER:  We have sufficient copies; we are just trying to keep up.

MR. MURPHY:  On this page at the top, Mr. Nickerson is expressing our concern with the use of the existing 50-year old foundations in the park to support the new quad circuit towers.

He states that the foundations need to be inspected; isn't that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Just before Mr. Karunakaran answers, I do believe we provided extensive comments on all the materials filed at this point in time by NextBridge on -- in our additional May 7th reference --


MR. MURPHY:  Do you see that statement by Mr. Nickerson?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I do.

MR. MURPHY:  Actually, your response is on -- if you flip to the next page, there under (p) your response was:  
"During the design phase, a thorough engineering review of the as-built drawings of the existing foundation types was completed to assess their suitability for supporting the new quad circuit towers.  It has been determined that the existing foundations utilized on the structures within the park are suitable to support the new quad circuit structures, provided that guyed wires are added to the new structures."

You recognize that as your response?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I do.

MR. MURPHY:  In the end, Mr. Nickerson's concern related to the foundations was valid because now you have changed and will build new foundations; isn't that correct?  You have decided to go with the new foundations and the new tower because the foundations that you did inspect were not suitable?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's not correct, no.

MR. MURPHY:  So the foundations are suitable?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  As I said in my opening statement, the solution that we had filed with our initial submission and spoke to at the -- pardon my ignorance, the May hearing, is still a viable solution and option.  But we have decided to change the design because we have an optimized solution; it's a better solution.

MR. MURPHY:  Did you help prepare the interrogatories in response for last Monday?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Was I personally involved in the responses to the IRs?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Some of them, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Were you involved in response to Staff Number 2?  Staff Number 2 is where you explain the new foundations and the tower.  I just want to make sure 
that -- this is a large panel, may have differences of opinion.  I want to make sure that everybody is on the same page.

Now, I do believe I have this in the compendium, so that might be helpful.  It's actually in tab 21, if you need extra copies.

And specifically, what I am looking at is page 3, and the first full narrative paragraph.

MS. DUFF:  I only have page 2.  Oh, tab 22?

MR. MURPHY:  Tab 21, and there's a picture of a tower on the page, page 3.  No?

MR. SPENCER:  The compendium is actually missing that page, I believe, but it is in our Exhibit I.

MR. MURPHY:  Let me see if I -- maybe it was one of these additional, because I want to make sure you have it.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, it does appear to be at tab 22.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3 of 5.

MR. SPENCER:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MURPHY:  There we go.  I am reading the sentence:

"Hydro One has recently determined that the number of foundations requiring replacement is significant enough that it would be preferable to adopt a different design for the new quad circuits."

I wanted to make sure that we are understanding that sentence in the same...

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Absolutely, I will take you back to the information that you have in your compendium at tab 20, and the section there that you have referred to in existing foundation to the structure connections, title section P, I believe, where you had spoken to the fact that we had said during the design phase we will conduct a thorough engineering review, et cetera, et cetera.

If you go to the last line of that, we say:

"Following a detailed site survey the existing foundations will be reinforced -- refurbished and reinforced to the new condition as required."

Right?  So subject to that site survey that's being conducted, we've determined that there are a number of these that do need to have the reinforcement, right, and an alternate structure solution will actually give us a preferable outcome, which has a number of net other benefit impacts over the four-legged structure, as I had spoken about in my opening statements.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 21.  Let's hope I got this together.  And here, this is the same Staff, page 3, the quad-circuit designs are now being designed as you spoke of with a new single-footing foundation.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, can I ask for the reference again?

MR. MURPHY:  We were just there, the same page.

MR. SPENCER:  Tab 21?

MR. MURPHY:  For some reason it looks like the copier might have -- I am very dyslexic, but the copier may be more dyslexic than I am, so I would go back to what's on the screen, which is your response to schedule --


MR. SPENCER:  Page 3, thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, page 3.  And here, I think we're -- we all had the same facts.  You say you are going to use new single foundations instead of the existing foundations.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  And then there will be no existing foundations, they will be decommissioned?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  So when you space the new foundations in between the existing foundations, are you looking at 87 towers or more towers?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The same number of structures.

MR. MURPHY:  The same number of structures inside the park, 87?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  I would assume that you are going to need new double-circuit towers either exiting or coming in to make up the span length; isn't that correct?  Just the visual is that you have existing towers --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  -- and you have existing foundations, you are building a new foundation, unless you are increasing the span lengths, which I don't think you are, right?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, we are not.  And just to clarify as well, the existing structures and the new structures outside of the park are not going to be sitting right on the boundaries of the, what's at rolling spans for these structures either.

MR. MURPHY:  So the cost of the decommissioning, the cost of the new foundations, that was not in your original application; correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There's some additional costs associated with that, and then there's costs that need to be subtracted for what the allowances were for the four-circuit structure with the old solution in effect.  So there's a net differential.

MR. MURPHY:  Did you provide that information in response to any of the interrogatories a week ago Monday?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, thank you.

I am in the triangle of tab 21 and tab 22.

MR. SPENCER:  Excuse me.

MR. MURPHY:  I am sorry, go ahead.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to clarify Mr. Karunakaran's previous comment, there in fact is no price to the overall EPC contract with SNC-Lavalin even with this additional -- with this change to the construction method.

MR. MURPHY:  Part of their contingency?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  As I said, there are some cost increases and some cost decreases.  It's a net.

MR. MURPHY:  I am going to try with my tab 21/tab 22s again.  Here, at least in my tab 22, I am showing a memo from Mr. Nickerson -- continuation.  There it is.  And here -- actually, let me just make sure I have the right one, because I want you all to see it.

If you would take subject to check -- I think you are familiar with Mr. Nickerson's work.  He had a concern with the use of the 50-year-old conductor that you're planning to reuse off the current double-circuit towers in the park.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Subject to check, yeah.

MR. MURPHY:  And you state in your response to your interrogatories, I believe it's in response to Staff 25, that you think the conductors actually can be used for another 30 or 40 years.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's the response, correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Though you have no concern with using the 50-year-old conductor --


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Murphy, can you just help the witnesses in, what are you referring to in -- where is it in this compendium and what's the exhibit number?  Just help us out.

MR. MURPHY:  My understanding is the witness knew from recollection that he had answered in that vein, so I am not feeling the need to stop, and I would like to continue.

MR. WARREN:  Well, if you are referring to Mr. Nickerson, I would like to be told what it is you are referring to, that's all.

MR. MURPHY:  I --


MR. WARREN:  Are you referring to a document or not?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, I am, and he took it subject to check, because his memory is crystal, so there's no tricks here.  You're going to use -- reuse a 50-year-old conductor.  You have no concern with reusing it, that it may break when you bring it down, it may be damaged?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, based on the conditions of the conductor and what we will be using as our work methodology, no.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, when you move the towers from the existing foundation to the new foundation and you reattach any new attachment point conductor, no concern there that you are going to have an issue with that conductor splicing or being broken or --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Just for clarification, we are not moving the old conductor -- the old tower to the new location.  It's a new tower that's being installed in a new location, and the conductor will be transferred across on to that tower.

MR. MURPHY:  And I'm going to use my hands, I said, to try to make myself clear.  You have an existing tower with an attachment point.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  New tower, new attachment point.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  No concern?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  If you were incorrect and you did have to replace a conductor, reasonable to say that would cost about 8- to $10 million for that length?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You wouldn't look to replace the entire section of conductor, right, if you had a localized issue that for whatever reason you couldn't clip in the new conductor you would splice in a small section, right, which would be a fraction of a percent of that number.

MR. MURPHY:  But if you had to in worst-case scenario replace it would be 8- to $10 million.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I haven't done the calculation, but I --


MR. MURPHY:  It doesn't sound unreasonable.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  We don't envision having to replace 87 route kilometres -- sorry, 34 route kilometres of conductor.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, here -- I'm sorry, go ahead.

MR. SPENCER:  In response to Mr. Nickerson's submission from May, item T in our additional evidence from May 2017 does in fact speak to this specific point I think you are getting to around extent of condition of existing facilities, so I draw your attention there.  Thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  The next is what we have on the screen, and if we scroll down to the bottom, this is a memo from Mr. Nickerson, motion to dismiss, an extract from the same memo we have been looking at, and he states there a concern with the lack of containment structures.  Are you familiar with the work?

I know it's been several months.  He is expressing a lack -- a concern with the Lake Superior link project not having containment structures to isolate the failure of towers and possible collapse of multiple towers.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You are referring to no anti-cascading structures within the park?

MR. MURPHY:  Correct.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Right, yes, that's what it states.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  If you go to the next page, this is from NextBridge's application, 6.0, where we talk about that NextBridge will install these anti-cascading structures.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Um-hmm.

MR. MURPHY:  At this point, you are still not going to install any of these structures.  Isn't that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So in response to the question around containment structures, this was previously answered in the responses to the Nickerson report in items F, G and H in that response.

MR. MURPHY:  And I just wanted to confirm, this is still your position that you are not going to use those structures?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Not within the park, no.

MR. MURPHY:  Outside the park?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, there are anti-cascading structures.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 23.  This is an excerpt from the May 17, 2018 transcript.  Take a look at it and make sure that you are familiar with it.

This is a response that talks about the optimization of the tower designs and the reduced steel weight as a result of the optimization, and that you believe you can save $17 million based on this optimization.

MR. WARREN:  Can you just confirm, Mr. Murphy, whose testimony this is?  We have a -- I have in my Volume 23, page 184 of a transcript; I have no idea who the witness is.  Who is it, Mr. Murphy?

MR. MURPHY:  This was an SNC-Lavalin response.  I was trying to -- you can see my compendium is quite large, so that's why --


MR. WARREN:  I am not trying to be difficult.

MR. MURPHY:  That's why I am also allowing the witness the take time.  If he doesn't recognize, that's fine.  I can find a source for the same information.

MS. LONG:  I think Mr. Warren's question is what witness gave this testimony.

MR. WARREN:  I am not quarrelling with your approach, Mr. Murphy.  I just want to know whose testimony this is.

MR. MURPHY:  There were two SNC witnesses.  I cannot remember which one it was; I apologize.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. MURPHY:  The facts are pretty straightforward, right?

MR. SPENCER:  We have the information, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Again, no curve balls, just the facts. The next tab 24, this is from your application.  And I would refer you to footnote 1, that's at the bottom, where you talk that you are going to meet the minimal technical requirements for the East West Tie line in a document that was dated November 9, 2011.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, where are we?

MR. MURPHY:  You can look on the screen as well.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  On the footnote, sorry.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, the footnote.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Okay.

MR. MURPHY:  Go to tab 25.  This is your response to NextBridge interrogatory 49 last -- a week ago Monday.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Um-hmm.

MR. MURPHY:  In (a), you state that Hydro One considered single loop galloping until 700 feet per bulletin 1724 E-22.  Isn't that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's the response.

MR. MURPHY:  That's what it says, yes.  The bulletin is a US Department of Agriculture rural utility service bulletin, isn't it?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Did anybody on the panel author this response?

MR. PINTO:  Yes, myself.  Yes, my name is Angel Pinto.  I'm the mission line engineer.

MR. MURPHY:  We'll go to the next page, and this is excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board's minimum technical requirements.  3.6.4 states that galloping clearances are to be considered in development of the general structure configuration for voltages at or above 230.  This analysis shall consider single loop galloping regardless of the span.  Do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  We do, yes.

MR. PINTO:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  To come up to the OEB's minimal technical requirements, you'd have to have a heavier structure; isn't that correct?

MR. PINTO:  No.

MR. MURPHY:  You don't believe you have to have a heavier structure to stop single loop galloping for the entire span?

MR. PINTO:  No, because there are other ways to mitigate or control of the galloping.

MR. MURPHY:  Go back to your statement; you are only mitigating up to 700 feet.

MR. PINTO:  What we did is the geometry of the tower was established for -- to meet the 700 feet.

MR. MURPHY:  The 700 feet is a US Department of Agriculture rural utility service standard.

MR. PINTO:  Which is standard practice for all utilities.  And I would like to show the -- because you are referenced to a document on Dr. Havard, and I would like also to refer to the same Dr. Havard in 2013.

MR. MURPHY:  This is in the record somewhere?

MS. LONG:  Let's see what it is first, and then we will find out where it is.

MR. MURPHY:  While you are pulling that up, the other utilities that you are referring to are cooperatives.  No other utilities in the US are subject to the rural utility service other than cooperatives, isn't that correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  A number of utilities have adopted the practice of doing single loop galloping up to 700 feet.

MR. MURPHY:  Which is different than what the OEB stated, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Understood.

MR. MURPHY:  I am happy to move on.  I think we've --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You don't want to pull up your reference?

MR. MURPHY:  You stated in response to Staff 4, at the top of page 3, I believe this is in -- it may be one of the new ones, but it's a pretty simple fact that you stated it takes about 2 to 4 days to fix a broken insulator, cracked or broken, in that region.  Do you recall?  No?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, could you point me to a reference?

MR. MURPHY:  Maybe we can just have a person pull it up.  It's in response to Staff 4, Hydro One last Monday, page 3 at the top.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Just while that reference is being pulled up, I just want to take you back to your question that you just had for us and the answer that Angel had provided to you, which was the geometry of the stricture is being considered for single loop galloping up to 700 feet.

But as Mr. Pinto correctly pointed out, there are other means and measures of control that can be in place to control galloping.

MR. MURPHY:  And you have not imposed those measures for the total span --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I beg your pardon?

MR. MURPHY:  -- just up to 700 feet because you feel comfortable with the 700 feet, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, I couldn't hear the question.

MR. MURPHY:  I will move on.  Tab 19.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, just before you do move on --


MR. MURPHY:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  -- Mr. Pinto, are you pulling something up that you want to refer to, or have you abandoned that?  Yes, you are?  Yes, okay.

MR. SPENCER:  I am going to suggest just for the course of the proceeding that we move on, and if we do in fact find this particular information later on we will bring it to the attention of the Board.

MS. LONG:  Are you moving on, Mr. Murphy, to a different subject area?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Perhaps you can look for it after lunch and if you think it's material we can deal with it then.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

Now, for these set of questions, so I don't start down a path and you don't have the documents, Staff 24 is one of the documents that I passed out this morning.  You should have that in front of you.  My first reference, actually, is back to tab 19, and the second full paragraph of your application, again, just pointing out that you're optimizing the design of your towers, and that these are lighter towers.

MR. SPENCER:  So just to clarify, as we get -- you referenced Staff 24.

MR. MURPHY:  It will be part of my questions, but if you go there.

MR. SPENCER:  I just want to make sure we have the material at our disposal; was it by chance NextBridge number 24 or Staff 24?  Because we have --


MR. MURPHY:  Yes, you are right, thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  Thank you.  So Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 24.

MR. MURPHY:  My next reference just elaborates on your optimization of towers, is in tab 54.  It's on the first page, where you talk about the use of helicopters because of the optimized weight --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, tab 15 of your compendium?

MR. MURPHY:  54, if I didn't articulate it right.  It should be Schedule 10.  Here the printer may have put it in a different -- so if you scroll down, this is response to Staff IR 10, a week ago Monday.  There you go, and if you go to page 3 of that.

MR. SPENCER:  So it is the third page within tab 54 titled at the top "Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 10"?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, and it's page 3 of 7 of your response.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Page 6 of 7?

MR. MURPHY:  Page 3 of 7 of your response to Staff IR 10.

MR. SPENCER:  I think we'll refer to our -- the compendium --


MR. MURPHY:  yeah.

MR. SPENCER:  -- didn't quite work out, but -- so it's response to Staff 10.

MR. WARREN:  We have it on the screen now.

MR. SPENCER:  The page reference, please?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Murphy, you have referred us to tab 54, and for the life of me I cannot find the document you are talking about in tab 54.

MS. LONG:  I don't think it's in tab 54, is it, Staff 10?  No?

MR. MURPHY:  It's on the screen.  The second -- say paragraph little (i).

MR. SPENCER:  We have turned this up after some searching, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And there you talk about how the lighter towers were optimized for weight to be lifted by a helicopter in a single lift and how this differentiates you from NextBridge.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  In bullet point 1, if you are referring to that.

MR. MURPHY:  When we go to, now to --


MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Just clarify on there.

MR. MURPHY:  Certainly.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You talk about a single lift with a helicopter.  We are talking about the double-circuit towers, okay?

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  And the double circuit or quad circuit?  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The double circuit.

MR. MURPHY:  The double circuit?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The quad circuits require two lifts, as we responded in our other interrogatory.

MR. SPENCER:  And in the context of this response to Staff 10 it's talking about substantial differences between the projects, the material pricing, and --


--- Reporter appeals.

MR. SPENCER:  Oh, sorry, it talks in this response to Staff 10, it's speaking to differences in this section, specifically material pricing, and we also reference starting at line 8 of page 3 that:

"Hydro One's design keeps the conductors closer to the centre line, enabling a lighter structure and a narrow right-of-way.  The design is also optimized for helicopter stringing."

MR. MURPHY:  So there is going to be a disconnect between my next question, because I wasn't sure if that was for the double circuit or the quad circuit, but now we will go NextBridge Interrogatory No.24 that I handed out and told Mr. Spencer we would be working from briefly.

On the first page there is a question B, says:

"Provide an all-in cost estimate for the four-circuit towers to be used in Pukaskwa National Park."

Do you see that question that was posed?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I do.

MR. MURPHY:  And turn the page to the answer.  The answer is that those costs are in Table 3.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  So there is no additional breakdown of those costs to be provided.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

Let's go to tab 26, NextBridge Interrogatory No. 66, and your response, and at the bottom of that response, talk about, you had ten double-circuit towers fail in 2009, it took 16 days to restore; do you see that?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes, we do.

MR. MURPHY:  And on the next page under 2 it talks about a 2011 double-circuit tower failure and nine days to restore.

MR. REINMULLER:  That's correct.

MR. SPENCER:  And of course also included are the circumstances around the failure, the impact or lack thereof to the bulk power system and load in this response as filed.

MR. MURPHY:  My co-friend is saying that you might want to break, so I don't want to go forcefully through these questions if you want to break, or I am happy to keep going.  It's up to you.

MS. LONG:  Well, I would like to break in the next ten minutes, so if you'd like to break now or if you'd like to complete these questions within ten minutes that's fine.  I leave it to you.

MR. MURPHY:  I think this would be a perfect time for a break.

MS. LONG:  Good.  Then we will break for lunch for one hour and be back at 2:00, thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at  2:09 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters?

MR. WARREN:  Just one, Madam Chair.  As enthusiastic as Ms. Oh is to stay in Toronto and avoid the dangers of her new government, I am wondering if there are any issues related to the numbers on the sheet which Board Staff circulated, because there was going to be a question of whether or not anybody needed to go behind those numbers if there was confidential information.

We haven't heard from anybody, but if there are no issues, then Ms. Oh can be excused.

MS. LONG:  I understand there are some corrections to those numbers that need to be made.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. MURPHY:  I know we are checking the numbers.  I know, at least for today, we are -- I don't see us getting to any confidential information.  I can't speak for the other parties.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  I guess the other question is does anyone feel that they need to go behind these general numbers, such that we would have to have a discussion about drilling down into, I guess, greater specificity with respect to the SNC EPC contract, and does that become a live issue for people that we are going to have to have a discussion about that?

I don't see anyone in the back row indicating that's a problem.  Mr. Murphy, Mr. Cass, you have indicated that is not an issue for you.  Board Staff?

MR. MURRAY:  It's not an issue for us.  No issue.

MS. LONG:  No issue.  Just give us a moment.  Okay.  Then it does not look to be an issue for anyone, so Ms. Oh we thank you for your submissions and you're excused.

MS. OH:  Thank you.  I will wait until the break and I will leave at the break, if that's okay.

MS. LONG:  You may stay as long as you would like.

MS. OH:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Murphy, would you like to continue with your cross-examination of this panel?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, thank you.  Good afternoon.  I would like to start on tab 27.  It should be the first page in tab 27, your response to NextBridge IR 65 of a week ago Monday.

I'm looking specifically at (i), where you state that it will take eight days to restore a tower collapse in the park.  I just want to confirm that's your statement.

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.  In reference to that response, that is a normal response, not an accelerated response based on an emergency.

MR. MURPHY:  And it's also my understanding that you're going to have two spare towers for the quad circuit towers in the park?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.  There's currently planned to have at last two towers at Thunder Bay.  However, there are other towers that are used for bypass in case that requirement arises.

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to go to tab 29.  And here on this page, which is an excerpt out of your system impact assessment report, focus on finding number 7.  In there, the IESO is explaining that it's critical to avoid risk of shortages to customers in the zone, that there be timely restoration of a quad circuit tower.  Do you see that language?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  The IESO is requiring the restoration plan for the Lake Superior link, correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct, and that actually applies to any right-of-way in any transmission footprint in Ontario.

MR. MURPHY:  Subject to check, in NextBridge's system impact assessment, the IESO stated that NextBridge had to be a restoration participant, but did not make a finding about system restoration and the timing, nor require a restoration plan after final engineering.

And I know that -- I don't know if you have seen in the record our system impacts or not, but I am just asking you if you do, do you know that that is not a requirement of NextBridge?  And if you don't, that's fine.

MR. REINMULLER:  It is a requirement for any transmission owner or operator in Ontario to be a transmission restoration participant.  In other words, if you own a piece of line, you will be required to be able to restore that line and provide IESO some justification or some certainty that you will be able to do so.

MR. MURPHY:  On this same page, it talks in finding number 8 about outages and the requirement for an outage plan; do you see that?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  It states that at least 24 months before the commencement of such outages, that a plan acceptable to the IESO needs to be submitted.  Do you see that language?

MR. REINMULLER:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab --


MR. REINMULLER:  Sorry, which tab?

MR. MURPHY:  I just want to make sure I get you to the right tab.  It's tab 30, and it should be the third page in.  Right there.  And here you're stating that you did submit an outage plan to the IESO.

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  On the third page of tab 30, this is your outage plan, it's in e-mail format; is that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct, but there was a face to face meeting with the IESO where they actually went through the whole plan.

MR. MURPHY:  And this was submitted on July 12th, 2018?

MR. REINMULLER:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  The first page is your explanation that all Hydro One transmission elements in the northeast need to be available for this two-week outage.  Am I reading that correctly?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.  And when we say all elements, we are talking about major transmission components, not every single element.

MR. MURPHY:  And at the bottom of page 1, and then on page 2 and also on page 3, this is more of an overview, a cut and paste of a past presentation on the Lake Superior link project, not directly related to an outage plan.

MR. REINMULLER:  There is -- this is part of the informal presentation to IESO, that's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  And this was submitted on July 12th, 2018?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  So on page 3, under "proposed benefits", the last bullet talks about the cost certainty and not to exceed price structure.  Was that your position on July 12th, 2018, or was that, like I said, in a cut and paste from an old presentation?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is information because they were using the existing information to present to the IESO what the overall project is.

MR. MURPHY:  And starting at the bottom of that page, it gets back into actual operational comments, and the last bullet talks about the need for a high degree coordination between other entities.

MR. REINMULLER:  That's correct, and that coordination has taken place.  There were meetings that we conducted with Manitoba Hydro, with Minnesota Power, with OPG, and the IESO, and that coordination will continue until the day of the outage.

MR. MURPHY:  And the next page, under operational summary, the first line, it's your position that although not normally desirable to take a two-week outage, the East West Tie, the existing line, it's achievable.  Is that a fair reading?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And then you go into very specifics for the next page about elements and the positioning of the elements, and how they have to be positioned on the grid in order to take the outage.

MR. REINMULLER:  These are normal postures that we have to take for every outage.  And just for those that don't know, we execute over 20,000 outages every year, and this level of detail is pertinent in a high majority of them.

MR. MURPHY:  And here, again, the positioning of your transmission elements, you're stating that it needs to be just like you're explaining here so that the outage is successful; correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct, and that's why the time line that was selected of August 2020, it's the best time line in terms of the cyclical levels of water, in terms of load in the northwest, and all those considerations.

MR. MURPHY:  And then, in the second-to-last paragraph, the one with the bold and the highlight, you express how important it is for the IESO to acknowledge your plan to time-stamp it two years in advance of the planned requirement, the outage planned requirement; do you see that language?

MR. REINMULLER:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to go to tab 15?

MR. REINMULLER:  One-five?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, one-five, and this is your risk matrix.  Specifically I'd like to go to Item Number 42 on page 3, where you do state that although in your opinion there's a low probability that the two-week outage would be cancelled, there's a $5 million increase to the price if it's delayed another year to the next August, so August 2001?  Is that what this line is representing?

MR. SPENCER:  It is a risk item that we are carrying within the project, and it's funded within our contingency accordingly, and as the risk register states we have classified it as a remote, which is zero to 24 percent likelihood of occurrence.

MR. MURPHY:  And when you say your contingency you are talking about Hydro One's contingency; is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  With the overall project contingency within the Hydro One section, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Which is reduced below $5 million currently; correct?

MR. SPENCER:  And so my colleague just suggested, I think, a good idea to clarify how the contingency is in fact defined.  This $5 million is -- needs to be considered against the probability of that event occurring.  So the contingency of now $5.4 million on Hydro One's portion in addition to the SNC-Lavalin $54 million is a function of the likelihood of an event occurring and the consequence.  So it's probabilistically modelled, and although a $5 million impact if we had to delay construction for the year to get to the next window of opportunity, the probability based on all the controls that we have in place and the ongoing collaboration that Mr. Reinmuller alluded to we've classified as between zero and 24 percent.

MR. MURPHY:  And working with you on this, in response to Staff IR Number 2 -- this is the one where they cut it short in the production.  We are going to bring it up on the screen on page 4 -- you elaborate on the importance of the 15-day outage under (c), and that if for some reason, weather delays or otherwise, if the outage is missed, it would have to occur in 2001?

MR. SPENCER:  So just for clarity, part (c) is talking about production rates within the construction phase in the Pukaskwa National Park, and the subsequent bullets talk about the allowable schedule to deal with those risks that may materialize.  And then the additional parts of this response do go on to talk about the availability outage window outside of that August 2020 period.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  The responses to the questions where that response comes into in the IR, right, is referring to the fact that when you look back to the question, if you wouldn't mind scrolling up for a second, please, it says have we taken into account potential weather-related delays.  So the production rates that we have utilized in coming up with the installation under the outage conditions do cater for that, in the following bullet points on it is what happens if those weather delays do occur and how do you reschedule on that accordingly.

MR. MURPHY:  So with your planner's help, just to be crystal-clear on this point, if the August window is missed you would try again in September?  Or would it go a whole year?

MR. REINMULLER:  So the way it works with the IESO, we apply for a window, and the reason we start two years in advance is to line up the generation and the support that's required for that area.  If for some reason there's a weather delay, the outage could slide.  In other words, it could start a day later or two days later or five days later, so there's always a possibility to stick to the same window and slide the outage a couple of days delayed. If there's some major constraints in the system, then the outage could be rescheduled, and it could be rescheduled to September or October or the next year, depending on the conditions.

MR. MURPHY:  And similar to the question I asked on the restoration plan, but I think it's a little bit more now grey here, there is now requirement for NextBridge to take a two-week outage to construct its line in its system impact assessment?

MR. REINMULLER:  For your line construction, I believe not, unless there's requirements for crossings.  However, for the connection of the NextBridge circuit to the three stations, we will have to take outages on the system.  So there will be outages to connect the line into the stations.

MR. MURPHY:  And at this point you have no written confirmation from the IESO that your outage plan is acceptable?

MR. REINMULLER:  IESO has taken the information and informed us they need a couple of months to derive limits for this outage.  And just as a matter of protocol, IESO does not provide an approval for an outage until three to five days before an outage.  And IESO could be asked to provide advance approval, which is 17 to 21 days, but they do, for sure, not provide an approval on an acceptance two years in advance.

MR. MURPHY:  So you don't -- you don't interpret the language in their system impact study -- you're saying as we get closer to the outage they could accept it at any time in that two-year window; that's your view; correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  They -- by working with them, they for sure they are going to give us indication of what their concerns are after they derive the limits.  That's Phase 1, to see what kind of support the outage requires.  And as we get into 2020 they will analyze the water flows and energy capacity that's available in the northwest and further refine those statements.

So we don't expect an approval anytime soon.  I would say it will be well into the 2020s before we get any kind of approval.  And that would be normal for any outage.

MR. MURPHY:  I'd like to move on to tab 40, the first page on tab 40.  I draw your attention to response B.  And these series of questions are about the route around the park if for some reason you can't route through the park.  And here the cost forecast that was developed by Hydro One for the route around the park states here did not include a LIDAR assessment.  Do you see that language?

MR. SPENCER:  In Part B we see it, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And also that it did not include detailed engineering nor consultants.

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.  We feel it would have been not appropriate for us to pursue that level of detailed engineering, given our reference route is of course through the park, which we are pursuing and optimistic about.

MR. MURPHY:  And you developed your number based on a per-kilometre average approach; am I reading that per metric exercise correctly?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, it's not done on a per kilometre basis.  What we would have done was to actually look at it on a structure type and do it more of a unit rate basis.  So it's very similar, but the unit is not kilometres.

MR. SPENCER:  Actually, I will clarify.  It's substantially different in terms of the unitized rate, and that's one of the clarifications I made this morning in my opening statements around the presentation provided to the Ministry of Energy -- sorry, the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks was that it was not blindly a per unit rate.  It is as Mr. Karunakaran clarified.

MR. MURPHY:  And staying with that, in one of your board decks -- and I will go there if you are not familiar with this number, but I think it's a standard number you have used, is that your per kilometre EPC cost is $134 million per kilometre, correct?

So that would be beyond the -- I am happy to take you there, but I thought that would be standard for you.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, you just said it was $134 million per kilometre.

MR. MURPHY:  Right.

MR. SPENCER:  1.34.

MR. MURPHY:  I said metre, but I mean kilometre.  I will take you there.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to clarify, maybe we should check the reference just so we all have it the same.  I have a number in my mind, and you have one in yours.  Let's make sure they match.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 6, I think this is helpful.  Tab 6, page 3 at the very -- towards the very bottom, the first bullet under benchmarking, make sure I am reading this correctly.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  1.34 million per kilometre.

MR. MURPHY:  That's what I was trying to say.  You said it better, thank you.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, I heard 134 million per kilometre.

MR. MURPHY:  When I did the math for the route around the park, which is about 40 kilometres, that comes up to $54 million.  So you are saying your 40 million is more precise than the EPC.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is right, because when you look at something like $1.34 million per kilometre, that's taken across the 403 kilometre route length the project has got, which includes varying types of structures.

Now, the cost per unit of the structures within the park being a four-circuit structure is going to be more costly than the cost of a double circuit structure that's outside of the park, right.

So if you start to analyze it in terms of a per 
rate -- per kilometre rate, you are going to draw the wrong conclusion by just doing it on the extended kilometres, right?

MR. MURPHY:  So we stay with your number.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  You need to do it on a unit basis of what the actual units are that you are going to be building with.

MR. MURPHY:  Staying with your number of 40, which you will find in Tab 40, the second page, response to JT2.20.  In your several IRs that were filed last Monday, you mentioned that this portion, just this portion, was an AACE class 4 estimate.  I want to make sure we are on the same page, that the $40 million at the bottom of that page was class 4.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, tab 40, so this is the SEC 26?

MR. MURPHY:  Right at the bottom of the table, yeah, the bypass around the park, the 40.7.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sure.

MR. SPENCER:  So when cost comparing, one must understand that through the park, we don't have any clearing.  Outside of the park, we have a lot of clearing.  And all of the associated unitized rates need to be looked at through that lens and it is very much an apples to mangoes comparison.

MR. MURPHY:  So I am trying to get through that.  Go back to the first page at tab 40, the bottom of the page, my interpretation of what I am showing you is that the $40 million is a class 4 estimate.  I want to make sure we are on the same page.

MR. SPENCER:  That's fair, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Like I did this morning, I just want to do simple math, you can check it, in that the upper range of the route through the park is approximately $835 million.  And then when we do a class 4 for the $40 million, which makes it $60 million, and you add those two the numbers together, you get $895 million.  Is that math correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Your arithmetic there is correct.  But if I might point out another way of looking at this, in the event that we did have to proceed around the park -- which, just for clarity, we are not advocating is the best solution for this project -- we would of course do an owner-driven change notice on the EPC contract with SNC-Lavalin and we would come to terms on what that number is and it would in fact be bound by a fixed price commitment.  So if we did have an owner-driven change, we wouldn't be in this range of massive uncertainty around what that would cost.

We would work with our construction partner to detail that out and similar to our existing application, that portion would be contained and bound by the EPC.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I also want to point out that the AACE class 4 estimate would refer to the section that goes around the park, right.  The rest of the line is not an AACE class 4 estimate.

MR. MURPHY:  And that's why I said check my math.  I think that's exactly what I did.

MR. SPENCER:  Maybe subject to check on the mathematics of it, but the concept being that if we did in fact have to do a change, which we are not pursuing, we would come to a cost competitive solution on that section just as we have with the rest of the route and wrap that into our full wrap EPC contract with SNC.

MR. MURPHY:  Still with this issue, the last page of tab 40 in response to SEC interrogatory 18, there, to your point, you're stating that your leave-to-construct application is for a route through the park.  That's what the first sentence says.

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Hydro One's position is if it ended up having to go around the park, it would notify the OEB that this is a material change an wait direction from the OEB; that's the last sentence.

MR. SPENCER:  In this scenario where we had that change, of course we would come back and declare that to the OEB, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And that scenario would not have occurred until sometime next year.  As we heard this morning, Parks will not approve or disapprove until sometime next year?

MR. SPENCER:  I will let Ms. Croll speak to the specifics of the timing of --


MR. MURPHY:  In other words, it's not going to happen this year.

MS. CROLL:  So the timing of the final approval from Parks Canada is as per our schedule, currently August 15th, 2019.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  Your position, just to wrap this up on this point, is that you would not file another lead to construct for a route around the park voluntarily.  You would await the OEB's direction on what to do?

MR. SPENCER:  So in this hypothetical scenario which we are talking about here, we would have already been presumably awarded leave to construct for the application as defined going through the park, and if outside of our control there was something that caused us to go around the park, which we think is unlikely, we would not submit another section 92.  We would work with the OEB in their existing framework and disclose that change to them.

Again, we don't think this is a likely outcome and we are confident in our ability to pursue the park route.

MR. MURPHY:  Now turning to Tab 31 --


MS. CROLL:  Can I just add one more thing about the park approval?  I would expect that long before the final approval date, we would be made aware of any critical concerns that Parks Canada would have with our application.

MR. MURPHY:  Go to tab 31; this is the EPC contract that you submitted in response to JT2.2 on May 25th.

MR. SPENCER:  In our books at least it's at tab 32, the redacted contract itself.

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. SPENCER:  Okay.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, what I heard, I believe this morning, I have heard other times, you believe this is in an executable format; correct?  Both parties, SNC, Hydro One, ready to execute?  If you go to tab -- it would not take you a month to finalize the contract?  That's what I read in your Gantt chart that you submitted?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Sorry, what was the question?

MR. MURPHY:  It would not take you a month to finalize the contract?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, I don't believe so.  It's an executable EPC contract.

MR. MURPHY:  It's executable.

In what you provided in JT2.2, there is a mention of an Appendix A, the owner's requirements.  That was not submitted at that time.  There's no draft of the Appendix A?  Take your time.  I mean, I know it's a long contract, but I didn't see it.

MR. SPENCER:  So the way that the submission to the undertaking in May was provided, the label on the appendix is missing.  So if one were to start at page 94 of 115, and that response, bear with me --


MR. MURPHY:  Sure.

MR. SPENCER:  -- just to get the exhibit reference.  To Undertaking JT2.22.  This is Appendix A, which is, in fact, the division of responsibilities between the two parties.

MR. MURPHY:  This is the two parties' complete scope of work detailed out, executable?

MR. SPENCER:  There are other confidential materials in addition to this division of responsibilities matrix which outline the owner's requirements and the relationship between Hydro One and SNC in those records.

MR. MURPHY:  And those haven't been produced to date?

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to check, we don't believe so.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  Tab 31, the first page.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I am missing a step.  Sorry, you asked what was produced to date, I am sorry, Mr. Murphy, I just missed it.

MR. MURPHY:  I would talk to your client.  I am fine to move on.  They answered the question.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Well, I would just like to get a better understanding.  This, what I see at tab 32, is as I understand it the executable EPC contract.

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MS. LONG:  Yet I thought I heard there were parts missing; did I just hear that?

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, we have undertaking with the Board Staff, and we can do this after, we can file with the Board a fully unredacted version of the EPC contract, if that's what you are looking for.

MS. LONG:  I was just confused by the reference, because this is a redacted contract.  So to the extent that there are things that you are claiming confidentiality over I would have expected to see them in here redacted, so perhaps this will sort itself out, as Mr. Warren says, when you file a fully unredacted copy, and we will check that against this to make sure we are not missing anything.

MR. MURPHY:  Madam Chair, given your interest, that was my read of the contract, was that there were material that would have been submitted but was not.  I am not saying that's the case, but that was my read.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, let's -- we will take a look at that -- at the end of today you are going to have this filed by, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  We will file it after the afternoon break, in addition to which we will undertake to do a comparison --


MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  -- and if there's something missing in this then we can file the redacted portion of it, but you will have the unredacted version in any event, so...

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Mr. Murphy.

MR. MURRAY:  Should we mark that as an undertaking?  We will mark that as an undertaking.

MR. WARREN:  Sure.

MR. MURRAY:  Undertaking J1.1.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A FULLY UNREDACTED VERSION OF THE EPC CONTRACT.

MS. CROLL:  Could we have you repeat that, sorry, we couldn't hear.

MR. WARREN:  The issue that's arisen is that what is in at tab 32, there's a question of whether or not it's a complete redacted version of the contract, so we have undertaken to do a comparison between the unredacted version and this document, and then to supplement this document by providing a redacted version when the Board will have an unredacted version.

MR. SPENCER:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Let's move on.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

Go to my tab 31, the last page, and there are a few pages.  This is Hydro One's response to NextBridge 49, and I am looking at (b) on geotech.  And there it says that SNC plans to do further geotech work in the first quarter of 2019.

MR. SPENCER:  Um-hmm.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  Let's go to tab 32, and then to -- I think the easiest way to get there is section 19.13 of the EPC contract.  And this is my read of this provision.  Take your time and read it.  My read of this contract -- of this contract provision is it's a known or should-have-known provision, in that SNC is taking risk on the subsurface what geotech they have done or not done at the time of execution, they are taking any risk for finding subsurface issues that they had not found before execution; am I reading it the way the parties are understanding it?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  And would you generally agree that subsurface conditions can be a substantial risk in a long transmission line of the type you are building?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  It is a possibility, yeah.

MR. MURPHY:  So what I am hearing is that SNC, without doing the geotech that they are planning to do, if this is additional geotech, were willing to sign the contract in January/February and take on that risk.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Because what we have done is geomorphological analysis of the entire route length.

MR. MURPHY:  And you are comfortable with that.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Absolutely.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, good.  Good.

Go to section 40.4 and 40.5.  Reading those two provisions together, the way I read those two provisions are that any act or omission by Hydro One or any other contractor that SNC shall be reimbursed by the owner, Hydro One, in accordance with the rates set out in Appendix B, or its reasonable cost.

Is that how you read those two provisions?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Also, I know it's a long document, if you want to take it subject to check is fine, but is it your understanding that there's no specific provision in the contract that says there's a presumption of no change orders in the contract; in other words, a presumption that you will not have a change order?

Again, I am happy for you to take it subject to check.  It's long, but I read it, interesting document, but I didn't see that clause.

MR. SPENCER:  We will consult for one minute, please.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So whilst there isn't a specific clause to the presumption of no change order, it's a contract for a given scope of work.  And so accordingly, there is a change provision within the contract for things that are not within that scope of work.

MR. MURPHY:  So will you take, subject to check, that in the NextBridge EPC contract, there is such a provision?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I don't know, I haven't --


MR. SPENCER:  There are many differences between the two contracts.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yeah.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, move on to tab 36.  And this is an exchange between Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Spencer in the May '17 hearing, in which you explain that SNC was pre-qualified.  Is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And as you said in your opening statement that 85 percent of the construction costs are assigned or the responsibility of SNC?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, for engineering, procurement and construction, yes, which make up 85 percent of the project total.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, moving to the next page, and one more page to NextBridge 42, this is where NextBridge asked for information that would have provided a track record on SNC's projects, but it was stated that information was confidential and could not be provided.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  My next question is we also asked that if there was any rulings or settlements about cost overruns or construction practices, and as you'll see in response to (a), essentially I am pointed to a website, www.SEDAR.com; do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, I went there and at tab 37, I found one of the Q2 reports for SNC.  And I'd like this marked as an exhibit.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SNC Q2 REPORT


MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  On page 34 -- it's a rather long document, but I wanted to provide the whole thing for authenticity, in your answer you pointed me to contingent liabilities.  And contingent liabilities goes on to page 34, page 35, page 36, page 37, and it ends on page 38; do you see that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I do, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  I just want to -- just one example about the contingent liability, on page 35, at the top, where it talks about the world bank settlement.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And there, just reading the words, it explains that settlement included a suspension of SNC's right to bid on and be awarded world bank finance projects for ten years.  Am I reading that accurately?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  I would like to move to tab 39, the first page, lines 4 through 7.  This is in your February application, where you explain the use of your right of way and benefits, smaller footprint, am I reading that first bullet correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  That's one of the benefits, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Tab 39, the next page, is your response to NextBridge 59, where you go on in (b) to reiterate the difference, and then in (c) you state that Hydro One will not provide NextBridge the ability to overlap the existing East West Tie in your right of way; am I reading that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  That's what the text in the IR response says, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And the rationale is you want unrestricted access for maintenance and for emergency circumstances.  That's my reading of it; is that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  The substations, the breakers that are open and closed that energize not only the existing line, but the new line; isn't that also correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  Sorry, I didn't get that question.

MR. MURPHY:  This line will be energized, but NextBridge has no ability to de-energize the line.  To de-energize it, Hydro One will open a breaker at a substation, have the ability to do that in emergency circumstances; isn't that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That's correct.

MR. MURPHY:  I also assume as a large utility you have switching orders where there are multiple parties on that switching order; isn't that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  That is correct.

MR. MURPHY:  And a de-energized line cannot back into service until all those parties provide sign-off on that switching order that you can re-energize that line; isn't that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  It's correct, but this 150 feet or sharing of the right of way is in reference to the line adjacent that is energized.  So within -- if you had two lines parallel and one would be de-energized, all those things you mentioned are correct.

But the same questions do not apply to the other line, which is energized and could be in jeopardy if the crew working on the first line gets too close, closer than the limits of approach.

So there needs to be a separation between the energized line and de-energized line.  That's why Hydro One has its own lines being separated at a certain distance.

MR. MURPHY:  To be clear, what I am talking about here is the situation, taking your exact design, one line is owned by Hydro One, one line is owned by NextBridge, but with this 40 percent less corridor, the coordination could happen through switching order, the safety procedures could be coordinated through access agreements; isn't that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  It is possible.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  To clarify, the substantial difference we are talking here within the corridor is because we have less corridor to cut.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Your structures require a wider right-of-way is our understanding.

MR. MURPHY:  Still, what I read is that there will be no overlapping allowed.  And my basic position -- been in the industry for 30 years -- is that utilities coordinate and their ability to have safety standards where people comply with them and they get along just fine, and that's what I think I heard, so I am satisfied, and I am happy to move on.  Thank you.

I'd like to go to tab 51.  This was not what I was expecting to see on tab 51.  I was expecting to see the response -- and I am almost done with my questioning, but I was expecting to see Hydro One's response to NextBridge's IR 16 where you list out your projects for the last ten years.

MR. SPENCER:  I think that's tab 2, schedule 16.

MR. MURPHY:  Thank you.  I want to make sure I am reading the chart correctly.  And over the last ten years, what I am reading is that Hydro One has had two projects that cost over $200 million; am I reading that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  The request was for projects greater than 100 million, so bear with me as I --


MR. MURPHY:  Sure.

MR. SPENCER:  -- verify that.  Yes, on here there are two projects that were approved for over $200 million, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Now, I have also provided in tab 52, and you can take this subject to check or we can go there, that over that same period of time, NextEra has had 21 capital projects over $400 million and Enbridge has had 39 projects over $400 million.

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, I don't see how that's relevant to the Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 16 request.  Oh, we are on to a different tab now?

MR. MURPHY:  Yeah, we are on tab 52, where I am mentioning in the record that there is NextEra projects 21 over 400 million and Enbridge 39 over 400 million.

MR. SPENCER:  There is no dispute that NextEra and Enbridge have executed a lot of projects, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  And then we go back to the chart we were looking at with your projects, and how I read it is you have had over the last ten years one transmission project over 150 kilometres, the Bruce to Milton project; am I reading that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  We have had one new line development project, the Bruce by Milton, which was over 150 kilometres, yes, which has been the nature of the projects in Ontario.

MR. MURPHY:  And then the same piece of information, the SEC Interrogatory 16 that I was referring to for NextEra and Enbridge shows that NextEra had four projects in the same period of time over 100 kilometres -- I am sorry, that's tab 53.

MR. SPENCER:  That is information that's presented, and, of course, on this one needs to also bring into context SNC-Lavalin's experience executing large EPC contracts across Canada and globally as well.  But your facts as presented for experience in SEC 16, we agree that they are as presented and our facts as NextBridge 16 are as presented.

MR. MURPHY:  And on the second page of Board 32, he explains that NextEra had a 521-kilometre double-circuit 345 kV line project that went into service on time and $62 million under budget and that all four projects over 100 kilometres were completed either on time or ahead of schedule; do you see those facts?

MR. SPENCER:  They are as presented in your leave-to-construct application and associated interrogatory responses, yes.  I am sorry, the designation application.

MR. MURPHY:  I would like to go to tab 42.  And this is an excerpt out of a presentation we have already talked about that you presented to the IESO on October 13th, 2017.  It's a high-level -- at least the first high-level project schedule I think you all developed.  Maybe you had earlier ones internally but this was external, the first one.  Is that your recollection?

MR. SPENCER:  That is material we shared, yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Construction would start March 2019 and be completed December 2021?  That's what that information says.

MR. SPENCER:  It was accurate at that point in time, and this was, I believe, an overview of an indicative project that we were sharing with the IESO early on in the project's development cycle.

MR. MURPHY:  And then taking, all the way fast forward to a week ago Monday, tab 46, the second page, I tried to produce your current schedule, where construction starts in September of 2019, construction runs through November 2021.

MR. SPENCER:  And of course much has changed between these two points in time, most notably the environmental assessment and consultation activities.

MR. MURPHY:  And talk about the environmental assessment, if we go back one page on that tab, to your response to Staff 7, under (b), this third sentence says:

"For instance, a delay in obtaining the EA approval after August 2020 could result in the in-service date being delayed past the end of 2022."

Am I reading that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  You are, and it's an example to describe what's not included in your compendium, which is page 2 of the same referenced response in schedule 7, just to demonstrate the sensitivity analysis that we have undertaken around different outcomes on the timing of EA approval.

MR. MURPHY:  Actually, I want to go to that timing.  And that is on the third page, and I reproduce your risk matrix again.  And here on item 16, it's on the second page, there's an item around reaction of Indigenous communities, even odds, with a schedule impact of six to 12 months.  Am I reading that line correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  So just to read the risk:

"I'm told the reaction by Indigenous communities to additional consultation from Hydro One is uncertain.  Indigenous communities may be limited in the extent they can share information with Hydro One given the existing agreements, exclusivity agreements with NextBridge."

So yes, that's how it reads.

MR. MURPHY:  And in 18 and 19, there's also risk factors of a three to six month delay, one higher than the other, 18 very likely, 19 even odds.

MR. SPENCER:  So in our application in its entirety, I think it's clear that we are pursuing a declaration order which we forecast is August 2019 approval.  We have a parallel alternative path for the individual EA assessment, and these risks in the register that you are referring to inform our contingency and our ability to meet those dates.  But should the August 2019 date, as per the baseline schedule here in response to Staff 7 change, this schedule provides an overview of the impacts on both cost and schedule.

MR. MURPHY:  Go to tab 5, page 8 of this presentation, the second bullet under details.  Here it talks about the liquidated damages clause, at least as it was at the time of this presentation in your EPC contract, it would be $53 million if the contractor, SNC, was over 180 days late.  Am I reading that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  Just a matter of process here, and I am going from memory and I could easily be mistaken, but I would have thought this information would have been redacted when we filed it originally.

MR. MURPHY:  I would have thought so, too, but it wasn't.

MR. SPENCER:  From my recollection, it was.  But I could be wrong.

MR. MURPHY:  I took it right off the website.

MR. SPENCER:  Okay.  So carry on, sorry.

MR. MURPHY:  And my question is not about the details, but it's really more for SNC and that is as a contractor, given this amount of potential liability, you would want to enter into agreement where you had a schedule that you felt comfortable that you could execute to.  Isn't that a correct assumption?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions and Mr. Cass is ready to take over.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, do you want to take a break now before you get started?  The witnesses have been up there since 2 o'clock.

MR. CASS:  I am good to get started, Madam Chair.  But if the witnesses and others would like to take a break now, that certainly is fine with me.

MS. LONG:  Are you fine to go for another 15 minutes, and then we will take our break?  Okay, let's do that then.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Panel, you would have heard this today, but I will be working with Volume 2 of the NextBridge compendium.

I did want to come back to one subject that I heard discussed during your examination in-chief.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  We are just getting Volume 2.

MR. CASS:  Yes, certainly.  During examination in-chief, I think it was said more than once that NextBridge had been told about Hydro One being unable to meet the December 2020 in-service date for the stations work.

I am certainly aware that there was some indication that Hydro One may not be able to meet that in-service date for the stations work.  But based on the information that I have, I had understood that it was only very recently where Hydro One said that it would not -- it will not be able to meet the 2020 in-service date for the stations work.

So can you please tell me when and how did Hydro One first tell NextBridge that it will not be able to meet the 2020 in-service date for the stations work?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.  So we first heard of MECP's position on the station work in May.  We did some of our own discussions with MOECC and I believe it was on June 20th that regulatory first send an indication to NextBridge that the schedule could be at risk.

On June 27th, 2018, you'll see a letter that I wrote to MECP and it is in evidence.  Do you want the reference?  It's Exhibit I, 1.14, attachment 3O -- is that an O or a C?  Page 1 of 3; I don't know if you can find that.

While they are finding that, this is a letter that we sent to MECP -- sorry, 3, that must be O.  And if you can zoom into the second last paragraph, it clearly states that the station work will not be completed in time to support the East West Tie's proposed 2020 in-service date.

This letter was sent to MECP, and it was also copied to NextEra energy transmission.

MR. CASS:  I see.  So that's what you're saying is your indication to Nextbridge's -- this letter that was copied to them?

MS. CROLL:  That's the initial indication. On July 26th, NextBridge accompanied Hydro One to a meeting at MECP offices to further discuss the implications to schedule, and continue to try and implore MECP to decouple the approvals for the station and tie line work.

MR. CASS:  Right, consistent with the notion that it was still not a certainty that the December 2020 would not be met?

MS. CROLL:  No, at that point, December 2020 would not be met because the construction schedule indicated that we had to begin construction in July of 2018.  So at that point we knew the schedule for end 2020 was in jeopardy.

MR. CASS:  Well, I understand that Hydro One knew that.  I am trying to understand what NextBridge would have gathered.  In any event, let me move on --


MS. CROLL:  I think the paragraph in the letter is clear.  It says, "The station work will not be completed in time to support the East West Tie's proposed 2020 in-service date."  I think this is quite clear.

MR. CASS:  This is not a letter to NextBridge, though.

MS. CROLL:  It's copied to NextBridge and it was discussed verbally and at a meeting where they were present.

MR. CASS:  I understand that in connection with the proposal to work in the park, that Hydro One has received a letter from an organize called Wild Lands League, correct?

MS. CROLL:  These true.

MR. CASS:  And Hydro One would be aware of this organization as a chapter of the Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's what their information indicates.

MR. CASS:  You have some reason to doubt that?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  The letter itself is at tab 6 of Volume 2 of the compendium.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I am familiar with the letter.

MR. CASS:  Good.  At the bottom of the first page of the letter, this organization indicates that the Minister responsible for Parks Canada has issued a declaration reaffirming that ecological integrity is the first priority in considering all aspects of management of national parks.  I take it you don't disagree that that is the policy of Parks Canada?

MS. CROLL:  I don't disagree.

MR. CASS:  Now, in the paragraph just above that, this organization, in the interests of ecological integrity, is speaking about moving in the direction of phasing out the existing transmission line in the park.

Now, I understand that you don't agree with that; I am not asking you to agree with that.  But you do appreciate that is the perspective of this organization that directionally, that would be the way in which things should be moving, correct?

MS. CROLL:  So that's what's stated in the letter.  However, we are meeting with this organization to correct some of the misinformation that they are basing their letter upon.  One of those pieces of misinformation is that if a new line is constructed, the old line in the park can be removed, and that is not the case.  Regardless of where the new line is built, the existing line through the park will remain in use for the indefinite future.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  But to their point, if you look a little higher in that paragraph, is that directionally you are going in the wrong direction, and I suggest to you, again -- I am not asking you to agree with this, but their perspective is that by doing the quad-circuit towers through the park you are increasing the reliance of electricity transmission in northwestern Ontario on this route through the park.  That's their perspective, isn't it?

MS. CROLL:  So I can't comment exactly on their perspective other than what's in the letter.  But it's unclear to me whether they understand we are using the existing corridor, the existing footprint, and replacing the towers for a quad circuit.  It's not clear to me whether they believe we are widening the corridor, so I am not privy to the information they are basing this on.  We are awaiting a meeting with them, which is scheduled --


MR. SPENCER:  And if I might supplement Ms. Croll's comments.  This letter was received by our interim president and CEO on Tuesday, and as I am flipping through my book here I am looking for the exact date, so subject to verification if required, on Saturday morning, Saturday for sure, Mr. Dobson (ph) responded to Ms. Bajeau (ph).  I followed up with my own personal letter which I believe was not submitted in your compendium here on Sunday, and on Monday, a community relations team did reach out to Ms. Bajeau to try and maintain -- or establish contact, talk through some of the issues, and some of the misinformation that she has referenced in her letter here, and take her thoughts into account as part of the EA process.
We have been unable to make contact with Ms. Bajeau, and considering the mandate of what the organization appears to be, one would think that the significant smaller environmental footprint that the LSL solution provides would be of interest, but unfortunately we have been unable to connect with her directly.

MR. CASS:  I would suggest to you you are not paying attention to the letter and you are not paying attention to my question.  My question was about whether you recognize that the perspective here is that by having these quad-circuit towers through the park you are increasing the reliance of the northwestern Ontario electricity transmission system on this route through the park, and this organization is saying directionally that's wrong.  Do you not see that that is their perspective?

MR. SPENCER:  It is their perspective.  We can acknowledge that's how the letter has been crafted, yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.

So just going to the next page of the letter, this organization indicates that they in fact were one of the stakeholders that expressed their view over five years ago about the proposal by NextBridge infrastructure.  Is that your understanding as well?

MS. CROLL:  That is what the letter claims.

MR. CASS:  You don't know one way or the other?

MS. CROLL:  I can't confirm for certain.  I am unaware of every stakeholder in the last undertaking.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  You would agree with me that it's a decision that Parks Canada made in respect of NextBridge's request was indeed consistent with the views of this organization about maintaining and indeed restoring the ecological integrity of the park?

MS. CROLL:  No, I would disagree.  The reason Parks Canada did not allow NextBridge to go through the park was because it was considered a new development and was not allowable under the Parks Act, and that is the reason --


MR. CASS:  And you don't think that is consistent with the views about maintaining and restoring the ecological integrity of the park?

MS. CROLL:  It is nothing to do with that.  It is simply considered a new development which is not allowed for consideration under the Parks Act.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And if it was allowed for consideration under the Parks Act it would not in any way then affect the ecological integrity of the park.

MS. CROLL:  I can't comment.  It wasn't allowed for consideration.

MR. CASS:  Okay, would I also be right in thinking that part of Parks Canada policy is to advance reconciliation and contribute to greater involvement of Indigenous peoples in the management of parks?

MS. CROLL:  I would expect so.

MR. CASS:  Well, this organization did ask, did provide you with a link to the statement of the minister responsible for Parks Canada for you do look at.  Did you look at it?

MS. CROLL:  I am aware of the link.  I think that's a general statement for Parks Canada.  I can tell you that we reviewed the park management for Pukaskwa and discussed it with park staff and our proposal is not contrary to that plan for that park.

MR. CASS:  Well, Parks Canada has indicated that they are going to require a detailed impact assessment for your proposal, haven't they?

MS. CROLL:  We have known that from the beginning, yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes, and this means an environmental assessment in accordance with the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act?

MS. CROLL:  With section 67, yes.

MR. CASS:  Right, thank you.

Can I ask you to turn to compendium tab 3, please.  These are minutes of a meeting on August the 23rd attended by representatives of Parks Canada, Hydro One, and SNC-Lavalin; correct?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Can I ask you to look at item 3.1, please, which is on page 3 of the document.  I just want to confirm that this is your understanding as well.  Parks Canada -- Parks -- sorry, this particular park staff has never actually completed a detailed impact -- a detail impact assessment under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act of 2012; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's what's stated.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And Parks Canada doesn't want any work to occur within the park until the entire scope of work is known; correct?

MS. CROLL:  I am just reviewing.  It says:

"Typically permits are not issued until the detailed impact assessment terms of reference has been finalized or near completion."

That would be the terms of reference.  And what my understanding is of the permits would be the permits for research collection to do our studies in the park.  So as of September, we have now submitted the detailed impact assessment terms of reference to Parks Canada and are nearing execution of the permits we require for our research.  That's my understanding.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So the terms of reference -- first of all, there's two types of permitting discussed in these minutes; correct?  A research permit and permitting for construction; right?

MS. CROLL:  I haven't reviewed the entire minutes.  Which section refers to the construction permits?

MR. CASS:  Well, item 3.5, for example, refers to permitting requirements for construction.  But I was actually more interested in the permitting for research.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  And item 3.3, as you've indicated, Parks Canada requires the detailed impact assessment terms of reference focused only on the proposed work in the park before even the research permit can be issued; right?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.  And that's now complete, and we are receiving, as we understand, the research permit.

MR. CASS:  But you have not received it yet.

MS. CROLL:  No, but we expect to receive it shortly. The terms of reference for the detailed impact assessment was just submitted.  I would have to look at the exact date, but it was since September 15th our cut-off for correspondence for this undertaking.

MR. CASS:  Right, and you are awaiting approval of that from Parks Canada.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  And the other item I had referred you to was at the bottom of 3.1.  Parks Canada doesn't want any work to occur in the park until the entire scope of work is known, right?

MS. CROLL:  By "entire scope of work" they mean the studies that we are undertaking in the park, and that has always been our understanding with Parks Canada.  All of this is still in line with our schedule as presented.

MR. CASS:  Okay, and as indicated in item 3.5, there will be construction permitting requirements that will be outlined during the detailed impact assessment process; correct?

MS. CROLL:  It's my understanding that the details of what permits would be required would be there but the actual permits for construction may not be issued until after the detailed impact assessment is approved.  I would have to confirm with Staff if that's their understanding from Parks Canada.

MR. CASS:  That's my understanding as well.  And does Hydro One have a complete understanding of all these permits that could be required?

MS. CROLL:  We have a complete understanding of the work required for the studies, but I would say until our studies are complete we wouldn't have a full understanding of all the permits required for construction.

MR. CASS:  So the answer is, no, at this point you don't have a full understanding of the permits.

MS. CROLL:  We don't, nor would we expect to.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

And if you look at item 4.8, it appears to me that consistent with what was said by the Wildlands League, Parks Canada actually enquired about whether the existing transmission line will be removed at any time.  And at the end of item 4.8, it's indicated that Hydro One noted that there are no plans to remove the existing line if the LSL application is unsuccessful, so that was a question from Parks Canada as well, wasn't it, about the potential for the existing line to be removed.

MS. CROLL:  It was, but it wasn't asked because they wanted us to remove it.  It was asked whether this undertaking would have any bearing on the future plans of the lines, which it does not.  That line will remain in service indefinitely.

MR. CASS:  Well, they certainly asked the question about whether, if your application is not successful, the line might eventually be removed.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, they asked the question.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And then looking at item 4.9, the next item, Parks Canada has indicated that they need to confirm whether new construction of -- I am sorry, whether construction of new foundations will be allowed in the park, right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.  Can I just recheck the date on this correspondence?

So this correspondence, this meeting was August 23rd, so yes, they did indicate that they would need to confirm.  And subsequent to this, we received their confirmation that either option -- as I said in my opening statement, either option using the existing foundations or new foundations could be considered in our assessment.

MR. CASS:  Could be considered.

MS. CROLL:  So they subsequently confirmed.

MR. CASS:  Could be considered, but they are not telling you it's okay before you have even done the detailed impact assessment, right?

MS. CROLL:  They are not going to give us approval until the environmental assessment work is done.  But they have confirmed that it's a viable option, as is the original option of refurbishing the existing foundations. They have no objection to either course of action.

MR. CASS:  I don't think it's fair to say they have no objection to either course of action.  They don't have the detailed impact assessment yet.  They are saying they are both open for consideration; they are not pre-approving them before the assessment is done, correct?

MS. CROLL:  I think the exact wording in their original correspondence from November 2017 was that they had no objection to our understanding as we proposed it then, so that's why I chose that language; that's their language.

MR. CASS:  So you are saying Parks Canada has told you they have no objection to either option?

MS. CROLL:  With the condition that we complete a detailed impact assessment.  So they don't object now based on what they know to the pursuit of either option, and the study of those options.  But this is contingent upon an approved detailed impact assessment.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Maybe we should break now, Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. LONG:  All right, we will break for 15 minutes, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:32 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:51 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Panel, can I ask you to turn to compendium tab 18, please.  Now, I have included it for context, at the beginning of the tab is a letter from a First Nation referred to throughout the material as BN, and this was a letter written actually in connection with the draft terms of reference for Hydro One's provincial environmental assessment; correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Right, so just for clarity, it doesn't specifically relate to the environmental assessment under the federal statute, it relates to the provincial environmental assessment?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay, could I ask you to turn, please, to the attachment, and for context, BN engaged consultants, Shared Value Solutions, to assist them with their comments on the provincial environmental assessment, right, terms of reference; right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Right, and if we could look at page 8 of the attachment, please, from Shared Value Solutions, comment 2.  I will just read the two sentence of interest to me:

"The reference route proposed by Hydro One as the preferred right-of-way for the project goes through Pukaskwa National Park.  BN has many concerns with this transmission line route through their traditional territory and through designated protected areas such as the national park."

I take it you are not going to tell me that it's wrong for this First Nation to see the national park as a designated protected area; is that fair?

MS. CROLL:  I think that's fair.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

And then if I can ask you to turn a bit later in the same document, page 17, comment 22.  Now, under comment 22, the first paragraph refers to three areas where, according to BN, Hydro One's proposed project will require federal approval or authorizations.  In addition to the park this would be Michipicoten reserve and Pays Plat First Nation.  Is this correct what they are saying here?

MS. CROLL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And goes on to say that the usage of First Nation reserve land will require Indigenous Services Canada authorization; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And goes on as well to say that BN has asserted Aboriginal or treaty rights in respect of the park; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And, indeed, BN has asserted Aboriginal title and has filed a comprehensive land claim in the Ontario Superior Court for Aboriginal title over its traditional territory.  That's indicated here and that's correct as well?

MS. CROLL:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And it goes on to say the asserted Aboriginal treaty right and the related comprehensive land claim raise serious questions about claimed federal jurisdiction over the park; that's correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's what it says.  I am not familiar with that --


MR. CASS:  You can't comment one way or the other as to whether this has raised serious questions?

MS. GOULAIS:  What's the question?  What's your question?

MR. CASS:  BN says that both its asserted rights and its comprehensive land claim which has been made in the Ontario Superior Court raise serious questions about claimed federal jurisdiction over the park.  I am just asking whether you can confirm that in fact they have raised serious questions.

MS. CROLL:  That's what the letter states.

MR. CASS:  But as to whether it's correct or not you can't comment one way or the other?

MS. CROLL:  I personally can't comment.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

Can you please give me Hydro One's understanding of all communities that have traditional values or open land claims in respect of Hydro One's proposal?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I can answer that question.  Based on evidence provided in this proceeding as well as conversations we've had with the Indigenous communities with regards to this project, we are aware of two First Nations that are currently under an Aboriginal title claim.  That's Biigtigong Anishnaabek and the -- sorry, the Pic Mobert is the second one.

MR. CASS:  Those are the only two you are aware of.

MS. GOULAIS:  Those are the only two that we are aware of.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And what is your understanding of how Hydro One can actually proceed to construct in areas where there are open federal land claims?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed.  I am sorry, I did say it very quickly.  What is your understanding of how Hydro One can actually proceed to construct in areas where there are open federal land claims?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the discussions with the two communities that have open title claims, those conversations with those communities are ongoing about how we can work together on our project.  With regards to undertaking our project, that's a part of the consultation, and having the discussions around those claims and how the communities want to be -- how they would like to work with us on those, and what the impacts are, those are conversations that happen as a part of the consultation process.

MR. CASS:  Right, but what about your right to actually go on and construct when these claims are outstanding?  How does that work?

MS. GOULAIS:  In terms of constructing on federal lands?

MR. CASS:  With these outstanding claims, yes.

MS. GOULAIS:  So we -- and perhaps Ms. Croll can help me, but we are undertaking to get all appropriate approvals and permits that we require to construct our project on the lands that we need to.

MS. CROLL:  So it's our understanding that these claims would affect both our line as well as the proposed NextBridge project, because the maps we have received from these communities with respect to the claim areas in question, we have looked at those, and we have actually -- we are trying to convey this to these communities -- we have looked at the impacts of our footprint, so as an example, for Pic Mobert, in the land-claim area in question the footprint of our corridor is actually 78 percent less land area than that of NextBridge.  Similarly, for Biigtigong, our footprint is 35 percent less area, so even though a portion of ours is within the federal park, both routes are in the areas that are under a land claim, and our footprint is significantly less than NextBridge's route.

MR. CASS:  But I wasn't asking you in any way about NextBridge's proposal.  NextBridge's witnesses can speak to that.  I was asking for your understanding of how you would proceed in order to construct on these lands in which there are open federal land claims.

MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. CASS:  And so you've told me as much as you know about how you would deal with that.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. CROLL:  We continue to work with the communities.

MR. CASS:  Now, it's my understanding -- and I will turn you to tab 1 of the compendium for this purpose.  I will let you get to that first before I go on with my question.

It's my understanding that Parks Canada is saying to Hydro One that before it will approve your proposal for construction in the park it's going to need two things:  The site-specific EA requirement has to be met, and also, it's going to await the decision of this Board; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Now, at the technical conference on May 17th, it was indicated that Hydro One expects Parks Canada approval by late 2018.  Do you recall that?

MS. CROLL:  I recall that.  That has since changed, and that is recorded in subsequent evidence.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Given that Parks Canada is not going to be given any approval before the OEB decision, and you're not expecting an OEB decision until early in 2019, clearly it has changed; right?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.  Our original assumption, I believe, was October 2018.  Yes, and OEB decisions can have conditions upon them as well.

MR. CASS:  Of course.  And so it is clear that the OEB does not know now and will not know when it issues its decision in this proceeding whether Parks Canada will approve Hydro One's proposed work in the park?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, but it's typical for leave-to-construct permissions to be given contingent upon EA approvals.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, we can argue about what's typical or not.  But given what Parks Canada has said, that they are going to await the decision of this Board, when the Board issues its decision, it's not going to know what Parks Canada will say with respect to your proposal?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can I take the panel to tab 13, please, of the compendium.   This is a response to NextBridge's Interrogatory No. 17, and in the bullets on the first page -- it appears to be about the fifth 
bullet -- it's indicated that Hydro One has completed 25 percent of property valuation appraisals and is now proceeding with presentation of offers for option agreements.

So to be sure I understand, the process would be to get these valuation appraisals done, that gives you information that then you can use to make offers to holders of interest in land.

MR. FAIR:  Patented owners, yes.

MR. CASS:  Patented owners, right, and you have done 25 percent of appraisals that you would then use as the basis for offers?

MR. FAIR:  And that's since increased since the filing; we are at 40 percent at this time.

MR. CASS:  So Hydro One is really at the start of this process of presenting offers to patented interest holders, right?

MR. FAIR:  I wouldn't say that.  We are in fact -- we are forecasting that we will have all offers to owners by the end of November.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, I wasn't really asking you about your forecast.  But the start of the process is to get the appraisals done and get offers out there, and you don't even have all the appraises done, right?

MR. FAIR:  I would argue that that's not the start of the process.  The start of the process would be the inspection of the property appraisals, which would lead to finalizing property appraisals, which we expect all finalized property appraisals to take place in the coming weeks.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  But in terms of presenting offers to landowners, you need these appraisals and you are still working on that?

MR. FAIR:  Correct.  But in the next couple of weeks, we will have those finalized appraisals.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Can I take you to compendium tab 10, please?  This is a response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 10, and I am looking in particular at page 4, which gets into some discussion about Hydro One's success rate in achieving voluntary settlements.  That's at small Roman numeral (iv) on page 4, are you with me?

MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  It refers to Hydro One's success rate, but it says approximately 90 percent on Bruce to Milton.  It would strike me that 90 percent voluntary settlements means you must have had some number of expropriations on Bruce to Milton, is that right?

MR. FAIR:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  How many did you have?

MR. FAIR:  About 15 percent on 365 properties was expropriated.

MR. CASS:  Oh, wow.  So you're challenging my math. 36 and -- in the 1855 range?  15 percent of 360, you said?

MR. FAIR:  Pardon me, you are correct in your math.

MR. CASS:  Approximately 55 in that instance?

MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So I am not quite sure how to understand this response.  Small Roman numeral number (v) says Hydro One has assumed a hundred percent voluntary settlement, but then small Roman numeral (vi) goes on to say the results of Bruce to Milton were considered and adjusted downwards to a total of 10 percent, or eight of the impacted patented properties.

So does that mean based on Bruce to Milton, you are assuming eight expropriations now?

MR. FAIR:  What we have done, to backtrack to Roman numeral (v), we have assumed in our project budget that we will achieve a hundred percent voluntary settlement based on recent experience.  And what you hadn't noted is in Roman numeral (iv), we note that we had a hundred percent property settlements on two recent projects.

So with forming our project budget, we have assumed a hundred percent property settlement.  However, based on our experience in Bruce to Milton, we have identified that as part of our risk registry the possibility of expropriation.

MR. CASS:  And that's the eight that I referred to there from the next part of the answer, small Roman numeral (vi)?

MR. FAIR:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  How much time have you allowed for eight expropriations?

MR. FAIR:  It would be subject to the approval of the Board obviously on our leave to construct.  We have in our schedule the assumption that we would file for a possible section 99, subject to our approval under section 92 next year, Q3.

MR. CASS:  And how much time have you allowed to get those approvals?

MR. FAIR:  We have allowed 14 months.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Would you agree with me that -- I hope this is obvious, but tell me if it's not -- the more voluntary settlements you have in place, the more certainty you have about expropriations that are not going to be required, right?

MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And Hydro One as yet has no voluntary settlements in place?

MR. FAIR:  Not at this time, no.

MR. CASS:  Thank you. Can I take you to compendium tab 11, please.  This is a response to NextBridge Interrogatory No. 60, page 2, and I am looking at paragraph (c) there.

The specific words of interest to me are the ones stating:  
"Hydro One acknowledges previous interest holders, which, in consultation with the MNRF, will be considered in planning and execution.  Such considerations may include but are not limited to adjustments for routing, improvements and/or compensations."


So these interest holders potentially, as you learn more about them, could have the implications referred to here?

MR. FAIR:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  If I used the term Crown land interest holders, that makes a little more sense to me.  Would that be a fair description of what we are talking about here?

MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And then in paragraph (d), it's indicated that Hydro One had limited understanding of these interest holders and did not specifically budget, and it goes on to indicate some reference to carrying a modest budget item for these situations.  Is that right?

MR. FAIR:  That's correct, we identified it at time of leave -- at the time of our application for leave to construct, we didn't have a full purview of all underlying Crown interest holders.  Since such time with working with property owners, community meetings and in consultation with MNRF, we have identified more of these users and we have carried in our budget a modest amount, as well as indicated in our risk registry even odds potential of these underlying rights as well.

MR. CASS:  How many have you identified?

MR. FAIR:  Off the top of my head, it would be in the dozens.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And dealing with these interest holders have all of the implications that are referred to in this interrogatory response?

MR. FAIR:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you. Sorry, I am just going to eliminate some questions as we go along because of my eye on the clock.  Pardon me, Madam Chair, sorry.

Just by fluke and for no other reason, my questions are following the tabs in order as we go along here.  So I am moving to compendium tab 12, and I will be very quick on this.

Mr. Murphy actually covered the development costs part on page 2 that I was going to have some questions about.  So this is response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 11, and I will just quickly confirm with you the indication in the middle of page 2 about real estate costs.

So just to set the context, as I understand it, this is updating what's been happening with Hydro One's work between the estimate done in February of 2018 and the September update.  Is that fair?

MR. FAIR:  Can you repeat that?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I just want to be sure I have this context correctly.  It appears to me that this interrogatory response is starting with what Hydro One was expecting in February of 2018 and is updating it to September.

MR. FAIR:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Which I think is a period of something -- it ends up being nine months.  And over that nine months, if we look at the part under real estate costs, there's been delays of three months: an eight-week delay in contracting for field property agent, an approximate four-week delay in establishing meaningful property owner contacts.  So about three months of delay already over that period.

MR. FAIR:  Those aren't correlated.  Those are in total.  They are separate to.

MR. CASS:  So they overlap in some fashion?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  So what is the total amount of delay?

MR. FAIR:  In our schedule, it would be about two months.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on this, because I do need to keep moving, but I did want to get your understanding of interests in land and various categories that will be affected by Hydro One's proposal.  You've referred to patented impacted properties --


MR. FAIR:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  -- I believe is -- impacted patented properties is one of Hydro One's terms.  What about unpatented claims?  How many of those are affected by your proposal?

MR. FAIR:  At this time we don't have a full purview of all those individual claim holders, and we are working with MNRF to identify that, as well the general public.

MR. CASS:  So at this point you don't know.

MR. FAIR:  No.

MR. CASS:  What about leasehold interests?  How many of those are affected?

MR. FAIR:  I couldn't hover a guess.

MR. CASS:  You don't know?  You can't even guess?  Okay.  What about land use permits?  How many of those are affected?

MR. FAIR:  Again, we are in consultation with MNRF to identify all these underlying rights holders.

MR. CASS:  You don't know?

MR. FAIR:  I don't know.

MR. CASS:  Sustainable forest licences?  Same?

MR. FAIR:  Same.

MR. CASS:  Interests under the Mining Act?  Same?

MR. FAIR:  Same.

MR. CASS:  Interests under the Public Lands Act?  Same?

MR. FAIR:  Same.

MR. CASS:  Interests under the Aggregate Resources Act?  Same?

MR. FAIR:  Again, I reiterate we are working with MNRF to identify all these underlying rights holders and we will do so in our process.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

Turning to a different subject, if I could move, then, to compendium tab 16.  It's probably just me, so don't hesitate to correct me, but I understood that this response set out the Indigenous communities that Hydro One had been asked to consult with by the Ministry, and there are 19 of those, but I thought I heard in examination-in-chief this morning a reference to 18.  Did I mishear that?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, so 18 Indigenous communities were identified by the Crown via the Ministry of Energy.  Number 19 on page 2 of 2 of the interrogatory referred to, NextBridge Number 34, we included Métis Nation of Ontario as number 19 because the Ministry of Energy asked us to include the Métis Nation of Ontario on all correspondence to any of the Métis councils that were included in that letter, so they are included there as number 19 because they would have received -- would have been cc'd as per direction from the Crown on all correspondence to any of the Métis councils listed.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  And you did in examination-in-chief this morning refer to the other four that are here.  So in addition to those 19, there are four listed here that have expressed an interest and Hydro One has engaged with, and you did discuss that this morning, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  And what is Hydro One's plan regarding consultation with these four communities?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the first two communities, the North Channel Métis council and the historic Sault Ste. Marie council, we have been asked through discussion with the other Métis councils and the Métis Nation of Ontario to in fact include those councils, so we -- so we have.

MR. CASS:  I get that, yeah.

MS. GOULAIS:  And similarly with -- sorry, not similarly with Jackfish Métis Association and the Ontario Coalition of Indigenous Peoples we will undertake consultation with those communities in the same fashion that we would with the eight communities we have been delegated to.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  That is what I was looking for.  So these four, the consultation will be the same as with the other 19.  Have I got that right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.  We will be undertaking consultation in a similar fashion.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Then at tab 17, if I can just ask you first to look, this is NextBridge Interrogatory No.35.  If I can just ask you to look first at the question in part (d), which was to confirm that unless Hydro One is able to enter into part -- sorry, excuse me, trying to go too fast -- participation agreements with each of the identified Indigenous communities, it will not proceed to construction with the project.  And I tried to find the answer to that question and I couldn't.

The question says that following -- "Hydro One remains committed to reaching agreeable terms in principle within 45 days following OEB approval", and that's in reference to BLP.

Has BLP ever confirmed that this 45-day time limitation is acceptable to them?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, they haven't.

MR. CASS:  And then the final sentence of the answer seems to say, given the date of OEB approval is undefined, Hydro One cannot answer the question as to whether or not the status of equity participation discussions or agreements will impact the construction schedule.

So I am not sure what Hydro One is saying, but it does seem to be clear here that there is a concern that the status of equity participation discussions or agreements can impact the construction schedule?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. CASS:  Yeah, have you had a chance to read the last sentence of the response to part (d) of the question?  "Hydro One cannot answer the question as to whether or not the status of equity participation discussions or agreements will impact the construction schedule", so do I take it from that that you don't know?  You don't know whether your construction schedule may be impacted by these discussions or agreements?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the answer where it states that we -- whether or not the status of equity participation discussions or agreements will impact the construction schedule, the context of that answer is because we -- although we have an anticipated approval -- leave-to-construct application approval, that's not something that we can -- that's something beyond our control.

And just also to provide some clarity around the 45-day window that we have indicated in our leave-to-construct application, to provide some clarity around that, that 45 days, as we indicated in our initial evidence for leave to construct, is we were seeking a minimum of 45 days post-leave-to-construction application approval, and the other factor that we have working somewhat against us from this perspective is the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership communities have indicated to us that due to exclusively agreements they have with NextBridge we cannot in fact have discussions with them about equity, so those discussions have gone no further than us respecting that they do not want to have those discussions because they cannot, so the equity discussions particularly with the Bamkushwada communities have gone no further because of their instructions that they cannot do that.

MR. CASS:  Right.  I think we are at cross-purposes here.  My question is just to be sure I have understood this correctly, and perhaps you can hem me.  Am I understanding this correctly to mean that the status of equity participation discussions or agreements could impact Hydro One's construction schedule?  Is that a correct understanding of what this is saying or not?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the question -- the answer to the question --


MR. CASS:  I am going to come back to the question, because I don't know the answer to that, the question.  But I am just asking you what this last sentence of part (d) means.  Does it mean that the status of equity participation discussions or agreement could impact the construction schedule?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think perhaps the -- perhaps it might help to answer the question.  Are you referring specifically to equity participation agreements or are you asking about agreements with communities more broadly on this project?

MR. CASS:  I am sorry, I am just referring to this sentence and wanting to understand what it means.  Maybe I will just move on.  I have tried.

MR. SPENCER:  If I might just elaborate a little bit.  What I am hearing in the exchange here between you two, we certainly have been guarded out against having any form of economic participation conversation with the Bamkushwada communities.  It has always been our intention and it remains to be our intention that we will when the time is right hope to offer a more comprehensive equity participation through the form of ownership than the other alternative --


MR. CASS:  Can you help me with my question?  Will this impact the construction schedule?

MR. SPENCER:  Upon -- bear with me, bear with me, please.  So upon the Board's decision to grant us leave to construct, we have suggested a period by which we could reach mutual agreeable terms with the affected communities.  Presumably at that point they would no longer be under exclusivity agreements with your client.  We have suggested a minimum of 45 days.  Certainly 45 days would have no impact on our construction schedule.

Thinking very pragmatically about this, the transfer of ownership from the assets under construction into the entity which will ultimately own the lines really happens upon project completion.

So not that we would want it to take this long, we certainly wouldn't intend, but we have until the time the project is fully constructed to reach those agreements with Indigenous partners.

Our intention is to do it quickly at the front end of the project, because that's the way we have always approached this undertaking.

Granted, we have not been able to have any specific conversations with the Bamkushwada communities around economic participation to date.

MR. CASS:  Was that a yes or no to my question?

MR. SPENCER:  The answer is a no.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then to come back to what was actually asked --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, I am going the interject here.  I want to be clear.  So the first part of the question is given that the OEB approval date is undefined, but I think what you are saying is at the time the OEB makes its decision, really you cannot enter into discussions, as Ms. Goulais said, and you're estimating a minimum of 45 days.

So you've planned on a January 2018 decision date from this Board.  Obviously, we are hoping to get a decision sooner than that, but that really doesn't affect your ability to speak to the First Nations.  It's really once the decision is made, that's when you can start.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, with a slight clarification, subject to the Board's decision in January of 2019, we could proceed with those economic participation conversations with no impact on construction schedule.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  But if the Board's decision came out -- and I am not promising anything here, but if it came out November 1st, 2018, it would be 45 days from that.  That would be your estimate, which obviously -- am I right on that?

MR. SPENCER:  The sooner the better, shall we say.  But just to put context around the 45 days and elaborate on Ms. Goulais' comments, this was a suggestion.  This is by no means the right answer, but we threw it out there as a consideration for the Board, that a relatively short period of time might take a little bit longer, because there are multiple parties involved, for us to reach that agreement.

But certainly if the Board's decision came earlier, it would be helpful, and therefore less risk to the construction schedule.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So if I could come back to the question that was actually asked in part (d), I don't believe it was about the construction schedule.

I think I know the answer to this from other information Hydro One has produced, but I would just like to be sure that I do know the answer.

The question was to confirm that unless Hydro One is able to enter into participation agreements, it will not proceed to construction with its project.

So what is the answer to that?  Is it the case that if you are not able to enter into participation agreements, you will not proceed to construction?

MS. GOULAIS:  Again, just to reiterate, we are going to continue making best efforts to work with all communities, reach consultation and capacity funding agreements with all communities who wish to enter into those consultation agreements with us.

Not all Indigenous communities that we have met with want to in fact enter into capacity funding or consultation agreements with us.

So I wouldn't think it fair to say that we would require agreements from every community to be able to proceed with construction, because we have in fact been told by two communities that they are not interested in those agreements.

You know, our answer is similar to NextBridge's answer to Interrogatory No. 13 asking the same question around does NextBridge require support from communities to be able to proceed with their project.

And, you know, the answer is similar in the sense that we intend to consult through the life of the project in order to address any ongoing issues and concerns, and hope to maintain the support of communities throughout the entire project, understanding that there may be some points along the line where there's going to be some concerns raised by communities that we are going to have to work and mitigate through.  But the idea is that we work with communities throughout the life of the project.

MR. CASS:  And for the equity participation that Hydro One is talking about in this case, BLP would have to fund something like $86 million, is that correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Bear with me while I turn up the page.  So I believe the specific reference point -- and you are correct, the 86 and a half million to be specific, is in our May 7th additional evidence on page 12, the table near the bottom.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  And as I think we have been discussing, Hydro One has defined a 45-day time period for BLP to consider this $86 million commitment, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Right.  So the 45-day minimum -- we have asked for a 45-day minimum to negotiate any agreements associated with finalizing terms and conditions associated with a commercial partnership.

MR. CASS:  Could I ask you to turn to tab 5 of the compendium, please?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry.  On this same reference, we also have the table at -- the amount that would be required if we are not in fact selected for the project as well.  So slightly less than 86, but still a large number.

MR. CASS:  Tab 5 of the compendium, do you have that?  This is a letter from the BN First Nation to the archaeological firm that is doing work for Hydro One, correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Could I turn you to the second page of the letter, in fact the final paragraph, please?  And you will see there the sentence:  
"Your company seems to have been told by Hydro One to hurry things along.  It seems as if Hydro One's clock is taking precedence over everything else, including our cultural heritage and our rights."

And that's correct, isn't it?  Hydro One is in such zeal to be able to meet even the December 2021 in-service date that its clock is driving much of what's going on in its proposal, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  So in particular reference to Biigtigong First Nation and the reference around timing, Hydro One fully appreciates that some of our timelines are quite tight in terms of getting the required studies that we need to get done.

I'd like to note the date of this letter is July 4th, 2018.  Since that time, we have signed an agreement with Biigtigong, who are actively participating in the archaeology work for this project.  We have received their comments on the terms of reference.  We have responded to those comments and have ongoing discussions with that community in particular about their concerns and issues raised not only in this letter, their comments on the terms of reference, and their participation in the archaeology work.

MR. CASS:  Right, and my question was that Hydro One's aim to get a project before this Board that has any prospect of a December 2021 in-service date is driving these timelines that we see throughout Hydro One's proposal, isn't it?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think I have answered the question.  Our timelines to complete our studies within the time that we have from a seasonal perspective, as well as making sure that we have all of the studies done adequately, those timelines are tight and we are working with communities acknowledging that those time frames are shorter.

MR. CASS:  And you have told me several times in the testimony I have been hearing that this 45-day timeline is a minimum amount of time.  I am not sure what this means in the context of this case.

You have asked the Board to issue an approval that is related to this 45-day timeline.  So are you actually proposing that the Board would either approve 45 days or some other time period greater than 45 days?  Is that what you mean when you say it's a minimum?

MS. GOULAIS:  I think between my answer and Mr. Spencer's answer, we have answered the question.  The 45 day window is something that we are proposing and something that we would like to achieve to be able to have the commercial terms and conditions set out for Hydro One in the Bamkushwada Limited Partnership.

We are not seeking approval for 45 days.  It was a time frame that we had suggested would be appropriate.  But again to Mr. Spencer's point, the partnership would not take -- come into effect until post construction and in-service.

So we do have that time in front of us.  The 45-day window was something we had suggested and something that we would -- I think shows that we want to work quickly with these communities to be able to achieve those commercial terms for that partnership.

MR. CASS:  So I was trying to understand then what the point of it is.  If you say it's 45 days it's a minimum, you are not asking the Board to approve it.

Do I take it from the answer you just gave then that it's a signal to the First Nations that you're looking for a quick resolution?  Is that what you are saying?

MS. GOULAIS:  What I said was it's something we were looking to achieve.  It's a time frame that we wanted to identify as something that we could work towards.

MR. CASS:  For whom?  For the First Nations?


MS. GOULAIS:  For both -- for all interested parties.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Cass, it's 4:30.  Can you tell me how much longer you think you will be?  I am happy to give you more time tomorrow if you have a significant chunk to get through.

You still do have time.  You gave us an estimate of four hours and you are not there, so are you prepared to continue tomorrow?

MS. LONG:  I can do that.  By page numbers, I am about halfway through.  But I do intend to try to cut things out as we are moving along.

MS. LONG:  I would like you to take some time to go through those questions and give you a fair opportunity to do that.  The witnesses have been up for a while, so I am happy to start tomorrow.

I believe we are starting at 12:30 tomorrow.  I look to you, Mr. Murray, for our schedule.  So we will start off with you, and I think what we want to try and achieve tomorrow is questions on the environmental assessment, given that we have a time constraint the next day.

So I will leave it with everybody to indicate to Mr. Murray perhaps if there's any risk that people who want to ask questions on the EA don't think that they will get through all of their cross-examination tomorrow, we will work to accommodate that, okay?

Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.
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